
CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 

Tuesday, January 12, 2016        City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.        16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

Note:  A Joint Study Session with Planning Commission is scheduled from 5:45 to 7:00 p.m. 

CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

SELECTION OF MAYOR 

SELECTION OF MAYOR PRO TEM 

RECEPTION FOR MAYOR HARTO, NEWLY ELECTED COUNCILMEMBERS, NEWLY ELECTED MAYOR AND 
MAYOR PRO TEM 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - NONE 

PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 

speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 

APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  November 10, 2015 Regular Meeting; November 24, 2015 Special Meeting-Joint Study

Session with Planning Commission; November 24, 2015 Regular Meeting; December 8, 2015 
Special Meeting; and December 8, 2015 Regular Meeting (Scott) 

C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)
C-3. Appointments to Council’s Audit Committee (Hendrickson)
C-4. Accept Jenkins Creek Park  Pedestrian and ADA Improvement Project (CIP 1041) (Vondran)
C-5. Award City-Wide Intersection and Safety Improvements Project Construction Contract (CIP 1029)

(Vondran) 
C-6. Accept Transportation Improvement Board Grant for Arterial Preservation Funds on 180th Avenue

SE & SE 256th Street (Vondran) 
C-7. Council Appointments to Regional Boards and Committees (Council)

CONTINUED BUSINESS 
1. Consider Ordinance Annexing the Hawk Property Annexation Area (Hart/Mueller)

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


 
PUBLIC HEARING 
2. Receive Public Testimony and Consider Ordinance Relating to Periodic Major Updates and 

Adoption of the Proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan (Mueller/Hart) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
3. Consider Planning Commission 2016 Work Plan (Hart) 
4. Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan Draft Review (Bahl/Feser) 
5. Consider Setbacks on Accessory Structures Code Amendments Ordinance (Bykonen/Hart) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 To Discuss Potential Litigation Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1)(i). 

 To Review the Performance of a Public Employee Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1)(g). 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 

 
 



Agenda Item 1  
 Covington City Council Meeting 

 Date: January 12, 2016  

 

SUBJECT:  CONSIDER ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF COVINGTON 75 

ACRES KNOWN AS THE HAWK PROPERTY ANNEXATION 

 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 

                                         Ann Mueller, Senior Planner 

                                          

ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Proposed Hawk Property Annexation Ordinance. 

 

PREPARED BY:  Ann Mueller, Senior Planner  

 

EXPLANATION: 

The Hawk Property Annexation Area consists of two parcels (APN 2022069152 and 

2022069012) totaling approximately 75 acres, and which are contiguous to the city’s boundary 

and in the city’s Urban Growth Area (the “Annexation Area”). 

 

On November 14, 2014, the city received a Notice of Intent to Petition for Annexation, signed by 

property owners within the Annexation Area, consistent with Revised Code of Washington 

(RCW) 35A.14.120, whose representation exceeded the 10 percent (10%) representation of 

assessed valuation required to initiate a Notice of Intent.  On January 13, 2015, the City Council 

accepted the Hawk Property Notice of Intention to Petition for Annexation. 

 

On May 11, 2015, owners of 100% of the assessed value of the Annexation Area submitted to 

the city a Petition for Notice of Intent to Annex.  This representation exceeded the amount 

required to validate a Petition for Annexation under RCW 35A.14.120.  On May 13, 2015, the 

King County Assessor’s Office certified the owner petition for Annexation as sufficient. 

 

Pursuant to RCW sections 35A.14.130 and .140 on October 27, 2015, the City Council held a 

properly noticed public hearing on the proposed annexation, inviting interested persons to appear 

and voice their approval or disapproval of the proposed annexation. At the public hearing the 

City Council approved the annexation petition and passed Resolution 15-11 stating their intent to 

annex the entire 75 acres of the Annexation Area and forward the annexation request to the 

Washington State Boundary Review Board (BRB) for King County for review. On November 

16, 2015, staff submitted the Hawk Property Annexation to the BRB for review under RCW 

36.93.090.  The BRB’s process requires their review and a 45-day waiting period, after which 

the annexation would be deemed approved. That waiting period expired on January 6, 2016.  

 

The Hawk Property Annexation will be designated in the city’s subsequently adopted 

Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map as part of the Lakepointe Urban Village Subarea 

(formerly called the Hawk Property Subarea).  The Annexation Area will be zoned R-6, 

consistent with the Hawk Property Subarea Plan approved under Ordinance 01-14.  

 

80 of 183



This annexation will be complete with adoption of an annexation ordinance (Attachment 1), 

which will establish an effective annexation date – the date this area will actually become part of 

Covington –January 20, 2016 (five days after publication of the Ordinance in the Covington 

Reporter). This is the date upon which service obligation ensues and the City begins to accrue 

revenues from the newly-annexed area.  

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Recommend amendments to the proposed ordinance.  

2. Return the issue to city staff for further study and analysis. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:   

The two parcels proposed for annexation currently have the following appraised valuations:  

 

APN 2022069152: $1,653,500 

APN 2022069012: $1,641,300 

 

In 2016, City revenues for the Annexation Area are expected to be approximately $4,305.29 

annually from property taxes and estimated to be $38,700 in surface water charges. In 2016, City 

expenditures in the Annexation Area are expected to be zero except for permit services that will 

be covered by fees that will be paid by the applicant for land use and development permits. 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION:     X     Ordinance         Resolution         Motion         Other 

 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 

seconds, to pass an Ordinance annexing the Hawk Property Annexation Area 

to the City of Covington corporate limits, in substantial form as that attached 

hereto with an effective date of January 20, 2016.  

 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, Finance Director; City Attorney. 

81 of 183



ORDINANCE NO. 01-2016 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 

ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY KNOWN AS 

THE HAWK PROPERTY ANNEXATION AREA 

PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF RCW 35A.14; 

ESTABLISHING A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND 

ZONING CLASSIFICATION; REQUIRING SAID 

PROPERTY TO BE ASSESSED AND TAXED AT THE 

SAME RATE AND BASIS; FIXING THE EFFECTIVE 

DATE OF THE ANNEXATION; AND PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY AND CORRECTIONS.  

 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to RCW 35A.14.120, on November 14, 2014, the City of 

Covington (the “City”) received a Notice of Intent to Annex, signed by the owners of not less 

than ten percent (10%) in value, according to the assessed valuation for general taxation, of 

certain real property commonly referred to as the Hawk Property Annexation Area (the 

“Annexation Area”), more particularly described in Section 2 below; and  

 

WHEREAS, on January 13, 2015, the City Council accepted the Notice of Intent to 

Annex and determined that the City would entertain an annexation petition, would require an 

assumption of a proportionate share of the City’s existing indebtedness, and would authorize the 

initiating party to circulate an annexation petition seeking the signatures of the owners of 60% of 

the assessed valuation of property within the proposed Annexation Area; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 11, 2015, the City of Covington received a 60% Petition for Notice 

of Intent of Annexation pursuant to RCW 35A.14.120, signed by all property owners within the 

proposed Annexation Area, constituting 100% of the assessed value (the “Annexation Petition”); 

and  

 

WHEREAS, on May 13, 2015, the King County Department of Assessments certified 

the Annexation Petition, issued a determination of sufficiency per RCW 35A01.040, and so 

notified the City of Covington of that determination in writing; and 

 

WHEREAS, on October 1, 2015, upon due and legal notice pursuant to RCW 

35A.14.130, the City of Covington Planning Commission held a public hearing on the 

Annexation Petition and voted to forward a recommendation to the City Council to approve the 

Annexation Petition and to designate the Annexation Area as part of the Hawk Property Subarea 

in the city’s Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map, and further designating the 

Annexation Area as R-6 on the City’s zoning map; and 

 

WHEREAS, on October 27, 2015, upon due and legal notice pursuant to RCW 

35A.14.130, the City Council held a public hearing on the Annexation Petition, considered all 

matters in connection thereto, and determined that all legal requirements and procedures 

applicable to the petition method for annexation under RCW 35A.14.120 had been met and 

ATTACHMENT 1

82 of 183



subsequently adopted Resolution No. 15-11, accepting the Annexation Petition, requiring 

property within the Annexation Area to be assessed and taxed at the same rate and basis as other 

property within the City; designating the Annexation Area as part of the Hawk Property Subarea 

in the City’s Comprehensive Plan consistent with the Hawk Property Subarea Plan and the 

Planned Action for the Hawk Property Subarea pursuant to Ordinances 01-14, 02-14, 03-14, and 

04-14; and designating the Annexation Area zoning as R6—Single Family Urban Residential 

upon annexation, pursuant to Chapter 18.15 of the Covington Municipal Code; and 

  

WHEREAS, the above proposed zoning regulation is consistent with the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan, the Hawk Property Subarea Plan, the Covington Municipal Code, and 

RCW 35A.14.330, and would be in the interest of the public health, safety, morals, and the 

general welfare; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City duly filed a Notice of Intent to Annex with the Washington State 

Boundary Review Board for King County (the “King County BRB”) for the Annexation Area 

and the King County BRB reviewed the same at their regular meeting on December 10, 2015, 

and jurisdiction was not invoked during the 45-day review period and thereby approved the same 

on January 6, 2016; and 

 

WHEREAS, all statutory requirements have been complied with, including RCW 

35A.14 and RCW 36.93, inclusive. 

  

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1. Findings. The findings, recitals, and determinations herein are hereby adopted 

and found to be true and correct in all respects. 

 

Section 2. Annexation. The real property legally described in Exhibit “A” and depicted 

on Exhibit “B” attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as if fully set forth, 

referred to herein as the “Hawk Property Annexation Area,” is hereby annexed to the City of 

Covington, Washington, as of the Effective Date established in Section 5 herein. 

 

Section 3. Comprehensive Plan Designation and Zoning. Pursuant to Resolution No. 

15-11, the Hawk Property Annexation Area shall be included in the City’s Comprehensive Plan 

as part of the Hawk Property Subarea and shall be referred to as the Lakeside Urban Village 

Subarea and included as such in the Future Land Use Map. The Hawk Property Annexation 

Area’s zoning classification shall be R-6, Urban Residential—Medium Density. The official 

zoning map of the City shall be updated in accordance with the zoning established by this section 

and the City’s zoning map shall be updated accordingly.  

 

Section 4. Taxation and Indebtedness. The owners of the real property within the Hawk 

Property Annexation Area shall be assessed and taxed at the same rate and on the same basis as 

other property within the City of Covington, including assessments for taxes and payment of any 

bonds issued or debts contracted prior to or existing as of the date of annexation.  

 

83 of 183



Section 5. Effective Date of Annexation. The effective date of the annexation of the 

Hawk Property Annexation Area shall be effective on January 20, 2016.  

 

Section 6. Filings and Recordings. The City Clerk is hereby directed to file a certified 

copy of this ordinance with the King County Division of Records and the King County Council, 

and in addition, file in triplicate within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this annexation a 

Certificate of Annexation with the State Office of Financial Management as directed by RCW 

35A.14.700. 

 

Section 7. Severability. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase 

of this ordinance or its application to any person or situation should be held to be invalid or 

unconstitutional for any reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining portions of 

this ordinance or its application to any other person or situation. 

 

Section 8. Corrections. Upon approval of the City Attorney, the City Clerk is authorized 

to make necessary technical corrections to this ordinance, including, without limitation, the 

correction of clerical errors, references to other local, state, or federal laws, codes, rules, or 

regulations, or section/subsection numbering. 

 

Section 9. Effective Date of Ordinance. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force 

five (5) days from and after its passage, approval, and publication, as required by law. A 

summary of this ordinance, consisting of the title, may be published in lieu of publishing the 

ordinance in its entirety.  

 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Covington in open session on the 12th day of 

January, 2016, and signed in authentication of its passage this 12th day of January, 2016. 

 

 

_____________________________                      

Mayor 

     

PUBLISHED:  January 15, 2015 

EFFECTIVE:   January 20, 2015 

ATTESTED: 

 

                                          

Sharon Scott 

City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

_________________________ 

Sara Springer 

City Attorney 

84 of 183



EXHIBIT A

85 of 183



2022069152
2022069012

SR 18

SE WAX RD

18
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

RAMP

SE 256TH ST

18
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 244TH ST

20
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

19
7T

H P
L S

E

SE 265TH ST

SE 262ND PL

TIMBERLANE WAY SE

19
1S

T P
L S

E

194
TH

 AV
E S

E

SE 248TH ST

19
3R

D 
PL

 SE

21
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 264TH ST

SE 262ND ST

SE 244TH PL

FRONTAGE RD

200TH AVE SE

SE 246TH ST

SE 261ST ST

SE 259TH STSE 260TH ST

18
5T

H P
L S

E

186TH PL SE

18
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

186TH AVE SE

TIMBERLANE DR SE

SE 245TH PL

19
9T

H 
PL

 SE

SE 247TH ST

19
9T

H A
VE

 SE

19
7T

H 
AV

E 
SE

20
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

18
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 250TH ST

183RD PL SE

19
5T

H P
L S

E

SE 245TH ST

19
2N

D 
PL

 SE

SE 267TH ST

201
ST AVE SE

SE 266TH ST

187TH AVE SE

SE 26
3R

D PL

19
0T

H 
PL

 SE

SE 263RD ST

189TH AVE SE

SE 258TH ST

SE 256TH PL

20
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

19
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

19
6T

H A
VE

 SE
19

6T
H 

PL
 SE

SE 259TH PL

SE 246TH PL

SE 247TH PL

SE 243RD ST

SE TIMBERLANE BLVD 20
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 261ST PL

185TH AVE SE

SE 254TH ST

SE 260TH PL

SE 265TH PL

183RD CT SE

20
4T

H 
PL

 SE

186TH CT SE

SE 257TH PL

20
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 243RD PL

SE 259TH CT

187
TH CT SE

19
8T

H 
CT

 SE
SE 260TH ST18

8T
H 

AV
E 

SE

RAMP

20
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

18
5T

H 
PL

 SE

SE 266TH ST

SE 248TH ST

SE 266TH ST

RAMP

SE 260TH ST

SE 262ND ST

SE 244TH ST

SE 263RD PL

20
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 260TH PL

188TH AVE SE

SE 262ND ST

SE 260TH PL

SE 248TH ST

SR 18

20
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 262ND ST

SE 260TH ST

20
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

20
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

Jenkins Creek

.
1 inch = 1,000 feet

City of Covington 
Annexation Request

Created By: Shawn Buck 11/16/2015

UGA (Urban Growth Area)

Streams/Creeks

O:\Covington_GIS_Library\PROJECT_FOLDER
\Community_Development\One_Time_Use_Projects
\2012\Northern_Notch_Annex_Area
\annex_phase_2_map_annex_area.mxd

Potential Annexation Area

_̂

City Limits

EXHIBIT B

86 of 183



Agenda Item 2  
 Covington City Council Meeting 

 Date: January 12, 2016  

 

SUBJECT:  PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF AN ORDINANCE 

REGARDING THE PERIODIC UPDATE TO THE CITY’S COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN, AND ADOPTION OF THE PROPOSED 2015-2035 COVINGTON 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. 

 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 

                                         Ann Mueller, Senior Planner 

                                          

ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Planning Commission Staff Report for the November 19, 2015 Public Hearing, including 

SEPA Determination and Addendum 

2. Additional Documentation for the SEPA Record 

3. Planning Commission’s November 19, 2015, Meeting Minutes 

4. Staff Response to Public Testimony at Planning Commission November 19, 2015 Public 

Hearing 

5. Written Public Comments Received 

6. Written Agency Comments Received 

a. Washington Department of Commerce Letter Dated December 14, 2015 

b. Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) Letter on Draft 2015 Comprehensive Plan 

Dated December 1, 2015, with City Response 

c. PSRC Letter on Growth Assumptions Dated December 1, 2015, with City Response 

d. PSRC Follow-up Letter dated December 18, 2015, with City Response 

7. Proposed Ordinance Adopting the new 2015 - 2035 Covington Comprehensive Plan, with 

Exhibit A 2015 Covington Comprehensive Plan (Note: Exhibit A-The 2015 Comprehensive Plan, 

and supporting background documents, were provided to the Council in a separate binder) . 
 

PREPARED BY:  Ann Mueller, Senior Planner  

 

EXPLANATION: 

 

A. BACKGROUND 

 

As required under the Washington State Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A) (the “GMA”), 

Covington’s Comprehensive Plan is a principal planning and policy document that looks forward 

the next twenty years (2015 - 2035) and is used to guide the orderly physical development of the 

city and city decisions and services on a wide range of topics, including subarea plans, functional 

plans, provision of public facilities and services, review of proposed incorporations and 

annexations, development regulations, and land use decisions. 

 

This periodic update process commenced in 2014 and involved a complete review and update to 

the city’s comprehensive plan, resulting in the proposed new 2015 - 2035 Covington 

Comprehensive Plan (or “2015 – 2035 Plan”). The 2015 - 2035 Plan’s overall priorities remain 

unchanged. However, the 2015 - 2035 Plan is intended to be a more concise and user friendly 

87 of 183



document, building on the existing comprehensive plan document and other planning documents 

that have been prepared to plan for growth in the city including, but not limited to, the Hazard 

Mitigation Plan, Hawk Property Subarea Plan, Hawk Property Planned Action EIS, Downtown 

Plan, and the Northern Gateway Study and Market Analysis. Accordingly, the individual 

elements have been reorganized and the policies regrouped and edited for greater clarity. The 

2015 - 2035 Plan also incorporates current demographic data, inventories, analyses, market 

studies, and forecasts of growth in development and employment. Furthermore, the proposed 

2015 - 2035 Plan addresses state requirements relating to environmentally critical areas. 

Applicable policies, guidance, and/or language from Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) 

Vision 2040 and from King County’s Countywide Planning Policies (2012) have also been 

incorporated and/or addressed. 

 

B. PERIODIC UPDATE PROCESS 

 

1. Community Participation 

 

City staff and contracted consultants began working with the Planning Commission and the 

Covington community in 2014 on the required periodic update of Covington’s Comprehensive 

Plan. Throughout 2014 and 2015, the city embarked on a community outreach campaign to 

provide numerous opportunities for community involvement and public input into the 

development and review of the proposed 2015 - 2035 Plan and the new and revised goals and 

policies directly reflect the input received from the community.   

 

City staff and consultants held a community workshop on June 23, 2014, to kick-off outreach to 

the Covington community. Over four days in July 2014, city staff and consultants operated a 

“Storefront Studio” at Covington Square to allow the public to drop-in, ask questions, and 

provide comment. During the summer of 2014 city staff and consultants also held two evening 

public workshops and conducted a series of stakeholder interviews. Additionally, the city 

established a project webpage (www.covingtonwa.gov/update2015) and regularly posted 

information and draft documents.   

 

2. Planning Commission Review and Recommendation 

 

The Planning Commission reviewed drafts of the proposed new policies and draft elements at 

their public meetings throughout 2014 and 2015, and, on occasion, those meetings included an 

open house to allow interactive dialogue with the community, commission, and city staff.  A 

Planning Commission public hearing to consider the proposed 2015 - 2035 Plan was held on 

November 19, 2015. (Attachment 1) The Planning Commission’s recommendation that the City 

Council adopt the 2015 - 2035 Plan was also discussed at a joint study session with the City 

Council on November 24, 2015.   

 

C. OVERVIEW OF NEW 2015 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 

1. Foundation for Review 

 

This periodic update included preparing an Existing Conditions Report and a Review of Best 

Available Science Report as a foundation for examining the existing Comprehensive Plan and 

updating it to take into account the growth and changes to the Covington community since the 

88 of 183



last major update and to make certain the goals and policies in the plan continue to guide 

decision makers to ensure that Covington’s quality of life is preserved and improved.  

 

2. Condensed Elements 

 

As part of the periodic update, the twelve elements of the existing Comprehensive Plan have 

been consolidated into eight elements: Land Use; Housing; Transportation; Economic 

Development; Natural Environment; Capital Facilities and Utilities; Parks, Recreation, and Open 

Space; and Shoreline Elements; along with a Plan Foundation chapter. The consolidation of 

elements was undertaken to eliminate redundancies and provide a more consistent and 

comprehensive assessment and policy guide for the city. This included combining the separate 

Capital Facility and Utilities Element into one element, eliminating the separate Downtown 

Element, and incorporating updated data and the goals and policies into other elements as 

appropriate, including the Land Use Element, Economic Development Element, and the Capital 

Facilities and Utilities Elements. 

 

3. Highlights of the 2015 – 2035 Covington Comprehensive Plan 

 

Highlights of the new components in the proposed 2015 – 2035 Plan include:  

 

 14 Framework Goals in the Plan Foundation (Chapter 1) that describe how Covington’s 

vision for an unmatched quality of life and mission to collaborate can be realized across a 

number of components. These goals are a bridge to the element specific goals and polices 

of the 2015 – 2035 Plan and cut across all disciplines.  

 

 Updated the Existing Land Use Map & Future Land Use Map (FLUM) to correct errors 

and consolidate Land Use categories and designations. The new maps throughout the 

2015 – 2035 Plan also include the Hawk Property annexation area that is scheduled on 

this same council meeting agenda to be accepted into the city (in an ordinance to be 

passed prior to the adoption of the 2015 – 2035 Plan).  

 

 GMA directs that a comprehensive plan includes population densities, intensity of 

commercial development, and estimates of future population growth. The city received 

housing and job growth targets in the King County Buildable Lands Report from 2012-

2031. Since comprehensive plans are required to address a 20-year period from 2015-

2035, the target was extended in a straight line method following guidance from an 

interjurisdictional team of planning directors (Interjurisdictional Staff Team, 2013).  

 

 Covington is a community of 18,520 persons in 2015, estimated to grow to 27,645 

persons by 2035. In 2013, Covington had an estimated 4,753 jobs; based on a market 

analysis (BERK 2012), the city could add over 1.6 million square feet of commercial 

space by 2035. This would support over 3,700 additional jobs. That would mean a total of 

8,459 jobs by 2035. 

 

 If the city were to plan for its remaining growth target, it may “under plan” for the 

infrastructure and services needed to support the community’s desired levels of service. If 

the city were to plan for its growth capacity it may “over plan,” and service providers and 

89 of 183



the city may invest scarce resources in infrastructure and services that are not yet needed. 

Thus, the city is basing this 2015 - 2035 Plan on the market demand study that not only 

accounts for the city’s growth targets but also the likely level of growth based on the 

demand, in order to plan for capital facilities, utilities, and services that will help 

maintain Covington’s quality of life. 

 

 GMA requires inventories of existing transportation facilities and “[f]orecasts for at least 

ten years based on the adopted land use plan to provide information on the location, 

timing, and capacity needs of future growth.” The 2015 - 2035 Plan updates the 

inventories with current information. The city is planning for multiple modes of travel 

consistent with King County and PSRC’s plans. New multimodal Level of Service (LOS) 

policies have been included that will help prioritize investments in pedestrian, bicycle, 

and transit facilities. The updated Transportation Element and existing conditions report 

include forecasts of volume, capacity, and desired levels‐of‐service related to the new 

growth estimates. The Transportation Element also contains updated revenue and 

expenditure figures to show that the transportation infrastructure necessary to serve the 

new growth can be funded. Supplemental inventory information is also provided in the 

Capital Facilities Appendix. 

 

 As required by GMA, the 2015 - 2035 Plan reflects that public facilities and services are 

planning for and can accommodate the new growth estimates. The Capital Facilities and 

Utilities Element and Capital Facilities Appendix are designed to establish LOS for 

projected growth. 

 

 The Capital Facilities Appendix provides information on capital facilities that serve the 

city including those owned and operated by Covington and other service providers such 

as Kent Regional Fire Authority, Kent School District, the Covington Water District, the 

Soos Creek Water and Sewer District, and King County Water District 111. The 

appendix provides a summary of each providers’ facilities, LOS demand, and planned 

facilities.  

 

At the January 12, 2016 City Council meeting, staff will provide a brief presentation on the 

2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan prior to the public hearing.  

 

D. REQUIRED REVIEW AND COMMENTS 

 

1. State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) 

 

On November 13, 2015, the City of Covington issued a Determination of Significance and 

Adoption of Existing Environmental Documents and an Addendum. (Included in Attachment 1) 

The city requested comments on the environmental review from citizens, tribes, and all 

interested parties from November 13-27, 2015, with a subsequent appeal period that ended on 

December 11, 2015. No appeal of the determination was received.  Attachment 2 is an 

Addendum errata that updates some of the information in the Addendum related to transportation 

data updates and minor corrections related to growth capacity based on the number of permits 

issued in 2006-2012. Neither change affects the city’s overall SEPA analysis or determination.  

 

90 of 183



2. Public and Agency Comments Received  

 

At the Planning Commission’s public hearing on November 19, 2015, public testimony 

regarding the proposed 2015 - 2035 Plan was received from Cliff Page, resident of Covington 

and Nicholas Skok, resident of unincorporated King County. (See Attachment 3 for meeting 

minutes from the November 19, 2015 Planning Commission public hearing; Attachment 4 is 

staff’s response to that public testimony as was discussed at the November 24, 2015 City Council 

and Planning Commission joint study session.)  Written comments on the proposed 2015 - 2035 

Plan were received from Grazyna Prouty, resident of Kent, and Nicholas Skok, residing of 

unincorporated King County. (Attachment 5) 

 

City staff also provided notice and, upon request, draft copies of the proposed 2015 – 2035 Plan 

and supporting documents to federal, state, and local jurisdictions and agencies for their review 

and comment. Written comments were received back from staff of the Washington State 

Department of Commerce and the Puget Sound Regional Council. (Attachment 6) Attachment 6 

includes three letters from PSRC with city staff’s response.  

 

All of the received comments, noted above, were reviewed by city staff and applicable and 

relevant input and information was considered. Accordingly, city staff made some adjustments to 

the text, goals, and policies in the final draft of the proposed 2015 - 2035 Plan. 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Recommend amendments to the proposed ordinance and/or proposed 2015 – 2035 

Covington Comprehensive Plan. 

2. Return the issue to city staff for further study and analysis. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:   

None directly associated with the adoption of the new 2015 – 2035 Plan. Printing costs will be 

required to print new copies of the plan, which will be accomplished within an existing line item 

budget of the city.   

 

New policies and implementation strategies contained in the 2015 - 2035 Plan will guide how 

city decision makers prioritize and spend city funds in the future. 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION:     X    Ordinance       Resolution         Motion         Other 

 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member 

_________________ seconds, to pass an ordinance, in substantial 

form as that attached hereto, to approve and adopt the new 2015 - 

2035 Covington Comprehensive Plan and repeal the 2001 Covington 

Comprehensive Plan and all amendments thereafter.  

 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager, Community Development Director, Finance Director, 

 City Attorney. 

91 of 183



 

 

Memo 
To:  Planning Commission   
From:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 

  Ann Mueller, Senior Planner  

CC:  Salina Lyons, Principal Planner 

Date:  November 13, 2015  
Re: Planning Commission Public Hearing on the 2015 Comprehensive 

Plan Periodic Update 
Attachments:  

1) SEPA Determination of Significance with Adoption of Existing Environmental Documents and an 
Addendum –Issued 11-13-2015 

 2) November 2015 Planning Commission Public Hearing Draft of the 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic 
Update. 

The November 19, 2015 Covington Planning Commission public hearing on the 2015 Comprehensive 

Plan Periodic Update has been duly noticed, as required by law, in the Covington Reporter (May 30, 

2014), posted on the city’s website and at city hall.  A SEPA Determination of Significance with Adoption 

of Existing Environmental Documents and an Addendum was issued on November 13, 2015(Attachment 

1) and a 60‐day notice of the city’s Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update was sent to the Washington 

Department of Commerce on October 29, 2015 as required by the Growth Management Act.  

The Planning Commission has previously discussed the periodic update to the Comprehensive Plan 

starting in 2014 and in meetings throughout 2015.  At the Planning Commission’s November 5, 2015 

regular meeting, a public open house was held to review and discuss the public draft of the 2015 

Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update. The Planning Commission received copies of the Introduction 

chapter and all eight of the draft elements. Those elements and the Existing Conditions Report and 

Capital Facility Appendix were posted on the project website for the commission and public to review. 

Staff provided an overview of the draft at the Open House and addressed questions from the public.  

Revisions and updates to the prior Public Draft of the 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update have 

been made and are attached (Attachment 2).  Updated versions of the Draft 2015 Comprehensive Plan 

Periodic Update as well as the Capital Facilities Appendix and Existing Conditions Report are uploaded 

on the project’s webpage at www.covingtonwa.gov/update2015. At tonight’s public hearing the 

Planning Commission will listen to any public testimony and after deliberating make a recommendation 

to the city council on the proposed 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update, or direct staff to make 

further modifications and bring those back at a future meeting.  A joint Planning Commission and City 

Council study session is scheduled for November 24, 2015 at 6 p.m., where the Council will hear the 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  7 of 221

ATTACHMENT 1

92 of 183



 

Commission’s recommendation and discuss the draft Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update. The City 

Council is currently scheduled to hold a public hearing on the 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update 

and take action on January 12, 2016.  

Decision Criteria for Review of Comprehensive Plan & Development Regulation Amendments 
Following is the criteria (in italics) that the Planning Commission must use to determine if they will 
recommend the proposed comprehensive plan to the City Council for their final review and decision.  

Comprehensive Plan Amendment Review Criteria (CMC 14.25.060) 
(1) Proposed amendments that meet one of the following criteria may be included in the final docket: 

(a) If the proposed amendment is site specific, the subject property is suitable for development in 
general conformance with adjacent land use and the surrounding development pattern, and with 
zoning standards under the potential zoning classifications. 

Staff Findings:  N/A. The proposed amendments are not site‐specific.  

(b) State law requires or a decision of a court or administrative agency has directed such a change. 
Staff Findings:  The 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update is a requirement of GMA.  

(c) There exists an obvious technical error in the pertinent comprehensive plan provision. 
Staff Findings:  N/A. The proposed amendments are not the result of a technical error.  

(2) Proposed amendments that do not meet one of the criteria in subsection (1) of this section shall meet 
all of the following criteria: 

(a) The amendment represents a matter appropriately addressed through the comprehensive plan, 
and the proposed amendment demonstrates a public benefit and enhances the public health, safety 
and welfare of the City. 

Staff Findings:   
Yes, this required periodic update of the Comprehensive Plan is a public benefit and the changes 
enhance the public health, safety and welfare of the city. The city is updating the 
Comprehensive Plan to address the 2015‐2035 planning period and demonstrate compatibility 
with state goals and regional plans. This 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update satisfies the 
requirements for periodic updates of comprehensive plans for those cities planning under the 
GMA, including consistency with King County Countywide planning policies, the Puget Sound 
Regional Council’s VISION 2040, and the multi‐county planning policies.   
 

(b) The amendment is in compliance with the three‐year limitation rules as specified in CMC 
14.25.040(3). 

Staff Findings:   

N/A. This is a required periodic update to the City’s Comprehensive Plan as required by GMA.  

(c) The amendment does not raise policy or land use issues that are more appropriately addressed by 
an ongoing work program approved by the City Council. 

Staff Findings:   

N/A. The required periodic update is a comprehensive review of policies including land use 

issues for the city.  

(d) The proposed amendment addresses significantly changed conditions since the last time the 
pertinent comprehensive plan map or text was amended. “Significantly changed conditions” are 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  8 of 22193 of 183



 

those resulting from unanticipated consequences of an adopted policy, or changed conditions on the 
subject property or its surrounding area, or changes related to the pertinent comprehensive plan 
map or text, where such change has implications of a magnitude that need to be addressed for the 
comprehensive plan to function as an integrated whole. 

Staff Findings:   

The Comprehensive Plan contained out‐of‐date and redundant information.  In the intervening 

years since the last major update (2003), conditions have changed which is reflected in the 

updated data, revised text, new tables and figures being included as part of this update. An 

Existing Conditions Report was prepared for this update, it included an inventory of existing 

condition for each element required by GMA.  The Existing Conditions Report provides the base 

information to support the changes and updates to the city’s comprehensive plan.  

This 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update is designed to assess existing conditions, plan for 

anticipated growth the next 20 years. The city must plan in coordination with King County and 

neighboring cities through Countywide Planning Policies for King County and through VISION 

2040. The updated Comprehensive Plan includes an Introduction Chapter with Framework 

Goals, and the following elements, Land Use, Housing, Transportation, Economic Development, 

Natural Environment, Capital Facilities and Utilities, Parks Recreation and Open Space, and 

Shoreline. These eight elements are a consolidation of the 12 elements in Covington’s 2003 

Comprehensive Plan as amended; this consolidation was undertaken to eliminate redundancies 

and provide a more consistent and comprehensive assessment and policy guide for the city.   

(e) The proposed amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan and other goals and policies 
of the City, the Countywide planning policies, the Growth Management Act, other State or Federal 
law, and the Washington Administrative Code and other applicable law. 

Staff Findings:   

The proposed 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update is consistent with the Countywide 

Planning Policies, the Growth Management Act, State Environmental Policy Act and the 

Washington Administrative Code (WAC). The update is intended to ensure the orderly planning 

and development within the city’s UGA and guide development in a predictable manner for the 

benefit of the city and its residents.  The 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update presents 

eight separate but interrelated topic elements as well as appendices and background 

documents providing additional detail about Covington and fulfilling other planning 

requirements. 

Recommendation  

Recommended motion: Move to recommend to the City Council that the draft 2015 Comprehensive 
Plan Periodic Update be approved.  

Commissioner ________________ moves, Commissioner ________________seconds, to 
recommend approval of the draft 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update to the City 
Council, in substantial form.  

 
Alternative motion: Move to continue the Planning Commission’s discussion and final recommendation 
to a future meeting date to allow staff to make recommended modifications for Planning Commission 
review.  

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  9 of 22194 of 183



Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  11 of 22195 of 183



Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  12 of 22196 of 183



Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  13 of 22197 of 183



 

 

City of Covington 

16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100 

Covington, WA 98042 

 

City Hall – 253.480.2400 

www.covingtonwa.gov 

 

ADDENDUM 

City of Covington 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update 

 

1 Proposal 

The City of Covington is conducting its eight-year review and evaluation of its Comprehensive Plan pursuant to 
the Washington State Growth Management Act. The update is expected to be adopted in January 2016.  

Covington’s Comprehensive Plan Update addresses its 20-year population and employment growth targets.  
Each plan element’s goals, policies, and action plan are being reviewed and amended to address recent 
trends, consistency with state and regional goals. The city must plan in coordination with King County and 
neighboring cities through Countywide Planning Policies for King County and through VISION 2040, a regional 
plan adopted through the Puget Sound Regional Council. The updated Comprehensive Plan includes an 
Introduction Chapter with Framework Goals, and the following elements, Land Use, Housing, Transportation, 
Economic Development, Natural Environment, Capital Facilities and Utilities, Parks Recreation and Open 
Space, and Shoreline. These eight elements are a consolidation of the 12 elements in Covington’s 2003 
Comprehensive Plan as amended; this consolidation was undertaken to eliminate redundancies and provide a 
more consistent and comprehensive assessment and policy guide for the city.  An Existing Conditions Report 
has been prepared to provide a base of information to support the preparation of the Comprehensive Plan 
and SEPA determination.  The Capital Facility Appendix provides information on capital facilities that serve the 
city including those owned and operated by Covington and other service providers such as Kent Regional Fire 
Authority, Kent School District, the Covington Water District, the Soos Creek Water and Sewer District and 
King County Water District 111.  A Best Available Science Report (BAS) was prepared to guide the development 
and revisions of policy in the Comprehensive Plan update.  

2 Purpose of Addendum 
The City of Covington has prepared this Addendum in order to evaluate and disclose potential environmental 
impacts and mitigating measures associated with the Proposal.  

This Addendum builds on the analysis contained in the prior SEPA determinations, but does not significantly 
change the analysis, or identify new or significantly different impacts. The Addendum analysis indicates that 
the Proposal will result in similar impacts as prior EISs and SEPA determinations.  Because the Proposal 
contains goals, policies and action plans designed to assure compliance with the Covington Municipal Code to 
reduce potential impacts to the natural and built environment, no new impacts beyond those studied 
previously are anticipated.  

3 Documents Addended 

This addendum provides supplemental information to the City of Covington Hawk Property Planned 
Action Environmental Impact Statement (Final EIS), November 14, 2013 and City of Covington 
Downtown Plan, Final EIS, July 6, 200 and related SEPA documents described in Section 4. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  15 of 22198 of 183



November 2015 | Page 2 

 

The Hawk Property EIS addressed the City’s second major center of mixed-use growth in eastern 
Covington, and studied the proposal in the context of citywide growth and transportation effects. The 
Downtown EIS studied the City’s primary mixed-use center. These two EISs studied a range of growth 
levels and established the more substantive changes to the City’s Comprehensive Plan since 
incorporation. The Comprehensive Plan Update is based on the results of the City’s cumulative efforts to 
plan for these two centers, as well as the continued predominance of single family residential uses, 
parks, and other public properties.   

4 Documents Adopted 

An agency may use previously prepared environmental documents to evaluate proposed actions, 
alternatives or environmental impacts.  The proposal may be the same as or different than those 
analyzed in the existing documents (WAC 197-11-600[2]).  Pursuant to the Determination of Significance 
and Adoption of Existing Environmental Documents dated November 13, 2015, the City of Covington 
adopts the following documents as relevant to the 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update: 

City of Covington, Hawk Property Planned Action Environmental Impact Statement (Final EIS), November 
14, 2013: addresses the Hawk Property Subarea (aka Lakepointe Urban Village) Plan and associated 
amendments to the comprehensive plan, zoning and development regulations that will allow for future 
mixed-use urban village in an area encompassing approximately 212 acres.  The analysis addressed 
citywide traffic modeling and mitigation at similar growth levels as the proposed Comprehensive Plan. 

Puget Sound Regional Council, VISION 2040, Environmental Impact Statement (Final EIS), April 2008.  
Addresses growth and impacts across the region. 

City of Covington Downtown Plan, Final Environmental Impact Statement, July 6, 2005: document 
addresses environmental issues associated with the Covington Downtown Plan that evaluated a 565-
acre study area within the southern portion of the city and subsequent amendments to the 
Comprehensive Plan and Title 18 of the Covington Municipal Code (CMC). 

City of Covington, 2003 Comprehensive Plan Amendment Docket, Addendum to Mitigated 
Determination of Nonsignificance, 2003. 

City of Covington, 2002 Comprehensive Plan Amendments, Addendum to the 2001 Comprehensive Plan 
Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance, 2002. 

City of Covington, 2001 Comprehensive Plan, Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance (MDNS), July 
5, 2001. The City’s plan was based on the King County Comprehensive Plan that was in effect when the 
City incorporated.  An EIS was prepared for the County Plan which was released in 1994. The City’s 2001 
Comprehensive Plan for the most part did not change from that adopted by King County. 

5 Phased Environmental Review 
SEPA allows phased review where the sequence of a proposal is from a programmatic document, such 
as an EIS or SEIS addressing a comprehensive plan, to other documents that are narrower in scope, such 
as those prepared for site-specific, project-level analysis (WAC 197-11-060(5)).  Additional 
environmental review will occur as other project or non-project actions are proposed to the City of 
Covington in the future.  Phased environmental review may consider proposals that implement the 
Comprehensive Plan, such as land use regulations, specific development proposals, or other similar 
actions. Future environmental review could occur in the form of Supplemental EISs, SEPA addenda, or 
determinations of non-significance.  

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  16 of 22199 of 183



November 2015 | Page 3 

 

Programmatic Review of Comprehensive Plan Update 

5.1 Study Area 

The study area includes the Covington City Limits and Covington Urban Growth Area (UGA).  See Exhibit 
1.  The city limits contain 6.55 square miles or 4,190 gross acres.  The Covington UGA includes two 
Potential Annexation Areas: Tahoma High School parcel on 36.8 acres and a 75.6-acre portion of the 
Lakepointe Urban Village (Hawk Property Subarea).  

Exhibit 1. Study Area 

 
Source: King County Assessor 2015  

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  17 of 221100 of 183



November 2015 | Page 4 

 

6 Environmental Review 
The Comprehensive Plan Update is a nonproject action, however future development and code 
amendments that occur after adoption of the Comprehensive Plan update may have the following 
impacts.  

A. HOW WOULD THE PROPOSAL BE LIKELY TO INCREASE DISCHARGE TO WATER; EMISSIONS TO AIR; 
PRODUCTION, STORAGE, OR RELEASE OF TOXIC OR HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES; OR PRODUCTION OF 
NOISE? 

When site development occurs there may be fill and grade proposals, and vegetation may be 
removed, which may result in altered surface water flows, increased stormwater flow, localized 
flooding impacts, and generation of non-point source pollution to local surface waters. With greater 
impervious surfaces there would be less infiltration of groundwater. Groundwater impacts could 
include changes in groundwater availability and reduced subsequent discharge to streams and springs. 
Impacts to groundwater quality may result from infiltration of untreated stormwater, transportation 
related spills, and on-site spills of hazardous materials. 

Emissions to air would most likely be associated with increased vehicle traffic.  The proposal includes 
policy and action plan items to reduce reliance on vehicular use to curb growth in vehicular emissions, 
promotes transit use be focusing mixed-use residential and employment growth in the downtown and 
Lakepointe Urban Village. 

Short-term air emissions including construction equipment exhaust and fugitive dust. During 
construction, dust from excavation and grading could cause temporary, localized increases in the 
ambient concentrations of fugitive dust and suspended particulate matter.  All construction projects 
will be consistent with the City’s erosion control development standards.   

The intent of the Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update is to encourage a mixture of residential and 
commercial uses to reduce the need for daily-needs vehicle trips and create opportunities for living 
and working in close proximity.  Mixed use development has been shown to reduce vehicle miles 
travelled which can reduce greenhouse gas emissions (US EPA March 20101). Further, the plan 
envisions pedestrian and bicycle improvements to encourage walking; a new multi-modal level of 
service (LOS) would help guide implementation of non-motorized improvements. 

Land development that may occur following adoption of the plan and associated development 
regulations could create short-term noise impacts to land uses in the vicinity.  Increases in traffic 
volumes generated within the study are likely the primary source of future noise. 

Some commercial or industrial uses may handle hazardous materials though the Uniform Fire Code 
and state and federal laws would apply. 

                                                           

1 As quoted in the US EPA 2011 paper Smart Growth: A Guide to Development and Implementing Greenhouse 
Reduction Programs, “[c]ompact development reduces the need to drive by putting destinations closer together 
and making walking, biking, and using mass transit easier. Any given increment of compact development could 
reduce VMT [vehicle miles traveled] up to 20 to 40 percent compared to dispersed development on the outer 
fringe of an urban area.” 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  18 of 221101 of 183



November 2015 | Page 5 

 

PROPOSED MEASURES TO AVOID OR REDUCE SUCH INCREASES ARE: 

The City has adopted a Hazard Mitigation Plan (Tetra Tech 2014), which guides “planning efforts, 
policy changes, programs, projects, and other activities to mitigate hazard impacts on the City of 
Covington.”  

At the time of building permit application, the International Building Code (IBC) includes conditions 
under which preparation of a geotechnical report would be required. Future development would also 
comply with City critical areas regulations to reduce health and safety risks related to geologic 
hazards, wetlands, and streams. 

Development is subject to applicable federal (EPA), regional (Puget Sound Clean Air Agency), and State 
(Ecology) air quality regulations.  Ecology air quality regulations applicable to the study area are found 
at Chapter 173-400 WAC.   

Future development would comply with the City’s stormwater requirements in place at the time of 
application. 

Maximum environmental noise levels are regulated by the State of Washington (Chapters 173-58 
through 62 WAC).   

Chapter 8.20 of the Covington Municipal Code (CMC) establishes regulations to minimize the exposure 
of citizens to excessive noise.  The CMC clearly states the hours during which certain noisy activities 
are prohibited but does not specify numerical limits for permissible noise levels.  The CMC prohibits 
sounds originating from construction activity between the hours of 8:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. on 
weekdays and 6:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. on Saturdays, Sundays, or Federal holidays.       

New development of specific parcels will be subject to City zoning for allowable uses and activities, 
and City IBC and Fire codes for handling hazardous materials as well as State and Federal hazardous 
materials regulations. 

Specific mitigation is also found in the Hawk Property Planned Action Ordinance regarding earth, 
surface water, groundwater, and noise. 

B. HOW WOULD THE PROPOSAL BE LIKELY TO AFFECT PLANTS, ANIMALS, FISH, OR MARINE LIFE? 

Covington features several creeks, including Big Soos Creek, Little Soos Creek, Jenkins Creek, Cranmar 
Creek, and North Jenkins Creek tributary. Pipe Lake is the only lake within Covington; however, smaller 
open water areas occur elsewhere in the City, such as Spring Pond in Jenkins Creek Park. Wetlands are 
generally associated with creeks and Pipe Lake as well as groundwater seeps. 

In a 2012 analysis done as part of the Urban Forestry Strategic Plan, tree cover was approximately 37 
percent.  

Many animals can be found in Covington, including deer, elk, beaver, bald eagle, and great blue heron. 
The City includes habitat types that are known to be used or could potentially be used by species 
listed as endangered, threatened, or sensitive by state or federal government, including Chinook 
salmon and steelhead. Continuous wildlife corridors are found along riparian areas. 

Future development allowed by the Comprehensive Plan and development regulations could affect 
plants and animals through land clearing for construction of housing and infrastructure, storm water 
runoff, and human disturbance associated with future growth. Environmental resources subject to risk 
of direct and indirect impacts include numerous species of plants, animals, and fisheries (including 
threatened or endangered species and their habitat). 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  19 of 221102 of 183



November 2015 | Page 6 

 

Ongoing development could result in incremental habitat losses in the city and planning area.  
However, the protection of shorelines, critical areas, and associated of buffers limits impacts 
associated with directly adjacent disturbance. 

PROPOSED MEASURES TO PROTECT OR CONSERVE PLANTS, ANIMALS, FISH, OR MARINE LIFE 
ARE: 

The City has adopted an Urban Forest Strategic Plan (City of Covington, April 2013). 

The City is proposing updated Natural Environment policies following a Best Available Science Review 
(The Watershed Company, fall 2015). 

The City’s Critical Areas Regulations (CMC 18.65) and Shoreline Master Program apply citywide where 
critical areas and shoreline jurisdiction are found. The City proposes to update the regulations based 
on a code audit (Parametrix 2015). 

The City’s surface and stormwater management regulations and guidelines would apply and rely on 
the most current manuals (as they may be amended over time per CMC 13.25.020): 

 Department of Ecology Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington 
(SWMMWW); 

 Puget Sound Partnership Low Impact Development Technical Guidance Manual for Puget 
Sound (LID Manual) by Washington State University and Puget Sound Partnership;  

 Washington State Department of Transportation Hydraulics Manual; and  

 Appendix 1 of the NPDES Phase II Permit, except that erosivity waiver is not adopted. 

 

C. HOW WOULD THE PROPOSAL BE LIKELY TO DEPLETE ENERGY OR NATURAL RESOURCES? 

The Study Area is served by electricity, natural gas, and potentially solar energy.  Service providers 
include Puget Sound Energy and Bonneville Power Administration. Energy is primarily used for 
heating. Mixed-use developments envisioned for the downtown and Lakepointe Urban Village can 
conserve energy and resources, relative to what would be expended by low-density suburban 
residential and single-use commercial development patterns. 

PROPOSED MEASURES TO PROTECT OR CONSERVE ENERGY AND NATURAL RESOURCES ARE: 

The City has adopted the International Energy Conservation Code as amended and published by the 
Washington State Building Code, Chapter 51-11R and 51-11C WAC.  

The City is also considering sustainability policies as part of the Comprehensive Plan Update. 

Air quality mitigation in the Hawk Property Planned Action Ordinance includes energy conservation 
measures. 

D. HOW WOULD THE PROPOSAL BE LIKELY TO USE OR AFFECT ENVIRONMENTALLY SENSITIVE 
AREAS OR AREAS DESIGNATED (OR ELIGIBLE OR UNDER STUDY) FOR GOVERNMENTAL 
PROTECTION; SUCH AS PARKS, WILDERNESS, WILD AND SCENIC RIVERS, THREATENED OR 
ENDANGERED SPECIES HABITAT, HISTORIC OR CULTURAL SITES, WETLANDS, FLOOD PLAINS, 
OR PRIME FARMLANDS? 

Greater population and employment growth would mean greater demand for parks and recreation 
facilities and services.  

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  20 of 221103 of 183



November 2015 | Page 7 

 

Regarding habitat, floodplains, and wetlands, critical areas protections would apply – see Section B 
above. Covington does not contain lands of long-term commercial significance for farming. 

Prior to European settlement, the Stkamish, Smulkamis, and Skopamish people inhabited the 
Covington area. Eventually these tribes, together with other tribes along the White and Green Rivers, 
were resettled on the Muckleshoot Reservation, named for the prairie on which the reservation was 
established. (Kershner, 2013; Muckleshoot Indian Tribe, 2015) 

Covington was originally known for lumber mills on Jenkins and Soos Creeks, and a place where 
irrigated berry farms and dairies were successful. As with other places in King County, following World 
War II, the community grew from a rural farming community into a suburb. (Kershner, 2013) 

Some properties have been evaluated as potential historic resources, though there are no sites listed 
on the Washington State historic register. There is a heritage barn on 156th Ave SE. (Washington 
Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation 2015) 

PROPOSED MEASURES TO PROTECT SUCH RESOURCES OR TO AVOID OR REDUCE IMPACTS 
ARE: 

The City’s Parks, Recreation, and Open Space (PROS) Plan allows the City to plan ahead for growth. 
The proposed Parks Element includes goals from the current PROS plan. The PROS plan is being 
updated and is expected to be adopted in 2016. 

Future projects will comply with all State and federal laws including those summarized below. 

 Washington State has a number of laws that oversee the protection and proper excavation of 
archaeological sites (RCW 27.53, WAC 25‐48), human remains (RCW 27.44), and historic 
cemeteries or graves (RCW 68.60). Under RCW 27.53, Department Archaeology and Historic 
Preservation regulates the treatment of archaeological sites on both public and private lands and 
has the authority to require specific treatment of archaeological resources. All precontact 
resources or sites are protected, regardless of their significance or eligibility for local, state, or 
national registers. Historic archaeological resources or sites are protected unless DAHP has made a 
determination of “not‐eligible” for listing on the WHR and the NRHP.  

 In the event that human remains, burials, funery items, sacred objects, or objects of cultural 
patrimony are found during project implementation, all provisions of RCW 68.50.645 apply 
including notification of appropriate authorities. 

 In the event that prehistoric artifacts or historic-period artifacts or features are found during 
project implementation, all work must cease within 200 feet of the find, Washington State 
Department Archaeology and Historic Preservation must be contacted, and all provisions of RCW 
27.53.060 would be adhered to.  

E. HOW WOULD THE PROPOSAL BE LIKELY TO AFFECT LAND AND SHORELINE USE, INCLUDING 
WHETHER IT WOULD ALLOW OR ENCOURAGE LAND OR SHORELINE USES INCOMPATIBLE 
WITH EXISTING PLANS? 

Population and Employment Growth 

Covington’s 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update is designed to plan for the growth in the City’s 
planning area expected over a 20-year period – 2015 to 2035. The City’s land use plan must 
accommodate the expected growth consistent with the community’s vision. In turn the growth must 
be supported by the transportation, parks, open space and recreation element, and capital facilities 
plan. The City received housing and job growth targets in the King County Buildable Lands Report from 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  21 of 221104 of 183



November 2015 | Page 8 

 

2012-2031.  Since Comprehensive Plans are required to address a 20-year period from 2015-2035 the 
target was extended in a straight line method following guidance from an Interjurisdictional Team of 
planning directors (Interjurisdictional Staff Team, 2013).  

Covington is a community of 18,520 persons in 2015, estimated to growth to 27,645 persons by 2035. 
In 2013, Covington had an estimated 4,753 jobs, based on a market analysis (BERK 2012), the city 
could add over 1.6 million square feet of commercial space by 2035. This would support over 3,700 
additional jobs. That would mean a total of 8,459 jobs by 2035. 

Exhibit 2. Estimated Population, Housing, and Jobs: 2015 and 2035 

 

Note: * Households and Jobs are 2013 estimates. 

Source: OFM 2015, ACS 2013, ESD 2013, BERK Consulting 2015 

The City is required to accommodate its fair share of growth in its Comprehensive Plan. The City has 
grown continuously even through the Great Recession and has already made significant progress 
towards its growth targets, especially jobs.  

Exhibit 3. Targets and Capacity: 2012-2035 

 
Source: City of Covington; BERK Consulting 2015 

The City’s land use plan would have more than sufficient land use capacity to meet its growth targets 
adopted by King County.   

Targets and Capacity Housing Jobs
Housing Growth Target (2006-2031) 1,470 1,320
Permits 2006-2012 (issued/finaled) - 163 1,148
Remaining Target 2012-2031 = 1,307 172
Extended Target 2031-2035 + 235 211
Remaining Target 2012-2035 = 1,542 383
Pending Development 2012, updated 2015 + 785 514
Hawk Property Capacity + 1,500 1,889
Parcel Capacity 2012, updated 2015 + 2,164 2,093
Total Capacity = 4,449 4,496
Capacity Surplus (Deficit) versus Target 2,907 4,113

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  22 of 221105 of 183



November 2015 | Page 9 

 

If the City were to plan for its remaining growth target, it may “under plan” for the infrastructure and 
services needed to support the community’s desired levels of service. If the City were to plan for its 
growth capacity it may “over plan” and service providers and the City may invest scare resources in 
infrastructure and services that are not yet needed. The City is basing its Comprehensive Plan Update 
on the market demand study that not only accounts for the City’s growth targets but also the likely 
level of growth in order to plan for capital facilities, utilities, and services that will help maintain 
Covington’s quality of life. 

Exhibit 4. Growth Targets, Market Demand, Land Capacity 

 

Source: BERK Consulting 2015 

Land Use Compatibility 

The City of Covington adopted it first Comprehensive Plan shortly after incorporation using portions of 
the King County Comprehensive Plan. The City’s Comprehensive Plan was approved in 2001 and 
amended in 2002, 2003, 2005, 2008, 2009, 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014. The updated Comprehensive 
Plan includes an Introduction Chapter with Framework Goals, and the following eight elements, Land 
Use, Housing, Transportation, Economic Development, Natural Environment, Capital Facilities and 
Utilities, Parks Recreation and Open Space, and Shoreline. 

The predominant land use within Covington’s city limits is single family residential. While single family 
residential use will remain Covington’s predominant land use, there is limited vacant land left to 
develop for single family residential uses. Covington’s population has more senior citizens and 
households with lower or moderate incomes; greater housing variety such as townhomes and mixed-
use residential would help meet changing needs in the community. 

The City is actively planning for well-designed, high quality mixed-use development focused in the 
Town Center zone and within portions of the Lakepointe Subarea. By focusing most growth in these 
two areas, the City can maintain the quality and character of existing residential neighborhoods while 
meeting the community’s changing needs for housing variety and offering more pedestrian amenities, 
public gathering spaces, and gridded streets. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  23 of 221106 of 183



November 2015 | Page 10 

 

Shoreline Compatibility 

Segments of Big Soos Creek, Jenkins Creek, and Pipe Lake are shorelines of the state in Covington. 
Predominant uses along Covington shorelines include low density residential, utility, and other lands. 
The stream corridors contain floodplains and wetlands; minimal critical areas are located along Pipe 
Lake. Planned land uses match present uses – residential, industrial (utility), and public. There are 
some adjacent public access locations just outside the Soos Creek and Jenkins Creek shoreline 
jurisdiction boundaries.  

PROPOSED MEASURES TO AVOID OR REDUCE SHORELINE AND LAND USE IMPACTS ARE: 

The City’s zoning code (Title 18) provides specific zoning regulations guiding land use, bulk, height, 
landscaping, parking, as well as critical areas regulations. Design guidelines apply to the downtown 
and Lakepointe properties. Future development would be subject to these standards.  

The City’s Shoreline Master Program (SMP) has been prepared consistent with the SMA and provides 
goals, policies, and regulations of each shoreline. 

F. HOW WOULD THE PROPOSAL BE LIKELY TO INCREASE DEMANDS ON TRANSPORTATION OR 
PUBLIC SERVICES AND UTILITIES? 

Future growth would add multimodal trips to the City’s transportation network, and increase demand 
for public facilities and services.  

Transportation 

Vehicular Traffic Operations 

Vehicle operations on city streets are measured according to LOS at major intersections during the 
weekday PM peak hour, which is the period in which the highest traffic volumes typically occur. Level 
of service is a qualitative measure used to characterize traffic operating conditions based upon 
average delay experienced by vehicles. Six letter designations, “A” through “F,” are used to define 
LOS. LOS A and B represent conditions with the lowest amounts of delay, and LOS C and D represent 
intermediate traffic flow with some delay. LOS E indicates that traffic conditions are at or approaching 
congested conditions and LOS F indicates that traffic volumes are at a high level of congestion with 
unstable traffic flow.  

Level of service for intersections is defined in terms of average delay per vehicle in seconds. Exhibit 5 
shows the LOS criteria for signalized and unsignalized intersections, as defined in the Highway 
Capacity Manual (Transportation Research Board, 2010).  

Exhibit 5. Level of Service Criteria for Vehicle Operations 

 Average Delay Per Vehicle 

Level of Service (LOS) Signalized Unsignalized 

A ≤ 10.0 seconds ≤ 10.0 seconds 

B 10.1 – 20.0 seconds 10.1 – 15.0 seconds 

C 20.1 – 35.0 seconds 15.1 – 25.0 seconds 

D 35.1 – 55.0 seconds 25.1 – 35.0 seconds 

E 55.1 – 80.0 seconds 35.1 – 50.0 seconds 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  24 of 221107 of 183



November 2015 | Page 11 

 

 Average Delay Per Vehicle 

Level of Service (LOS) Signalized Unsignalized 

F > 80.0 seconds > 50.0 seconds 

Source: Transportation Research Board, 2010. 

Under GMA, concurrency is the requirement that adequate infrastructure be planned and financed to 
support the City’s adopted future land use plan. Level of service standards are used to evaluate the 
transportation impacts of long-term growth and concurrency. In order to monitor concurrency, the 
jurisdictions adopt acceptable operating conditions on their streets that are then used to measure 
existing or projected traffic conditions and identify deficiencies.  

Exhibit 6 summarizes the LOS standard established by the City for city streets in the proposed 
Comprehensive Plan; it is similar to the City’s current LOS measures but accounts for the ultimate 
capacity design of SE 272nd.  

Exhibit 6. Level of Service Standard for City Streets 

Street Intersection Standard1 

Signalized, roundabout-controlled and all-
way stop controlled intersections of all 
Arterial and Collector streets, except SE 
272nd Street (SR 516) 

LOS D or better. 

Signalized intersections along SE 272nd 
Street (SR 516) 

LOS D or better, until an ultimate capacity of five 
lanes (two travel lanes in each direction plus a 
center left-turn lane) plus sidewalks on both sides is 
reached for SE 272nd Street. Once ultimate capacity 
is reached, vehicle operation worse than LOS D is 
acceptable.  

1. Level of service for the weekday PM peak hour, based upon methods set forth in the current version of the Highway 

Capacity Manual, unless otherwise authorized by the Director of Public Works. 

Sources: City of Covington and Heffron Transportation 2015 

Exhibit 7 summarizes existing LOS at the concurrency intersections. As shown, all intersections 
currently meet the LOS standards for city streets and no existing deficiencies are identified. 

Exhibit 7. Existing (2012) Level of Service at City Concurrency Intersections – PM Peak Hour 

ID Intersection Standard LOS1 Delay2 

 Signalized    

4 SE 251st St/164th Ave SE D A 6.9 

7 SE 256th St/156th Ave SE D A 7.6 

9 SE 256th St/168th Pl SE D A 8.7 

11 SE 256th St/180th Ave SE D C 37.0 

14 SE 262nd St/180th Ave SE D B 12.4 

21 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/Covington Way UC3 E 56.6 

22 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/164th Ave SE UC3 D 37.5 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  25 of 221108 of 183



November 2015 | Page 12 

 

ID Intersection Standard LOS1 Delay2 

23 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/Westbound SR 18 Ramps UC3 C 28.1 

24 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/Eastbound SR 18 Ramps UC3 D 36.9 

26 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/168th Ave SE UC3 C 25.1 

29 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/172nd Ave SE UC3 C 32.7 

32 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/SE Wax Rd  UC3 D 43.2 

34 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/192nd Ave SE D B 14.8 

40 Covington Way/SE Wax Rd D C 21.0 

43 SE 270th Pl/SE Wax Rd D B 16.6 

57 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/185th Ave SE D C 25.7 

59 165th Pl SE/Covington Way 

 

D B 18.4 

233 Kenmore High School Dwy/164th Ave SE D A 4 <10.0 4 

 Roundabout    

8 SE 256th St/164th Ave SE D B 10.9 

17 SE 267th Place/SE Wax Rd/180th Ave SE D A 7.4 

44 SE 270th Place/172nd Ave SE 

 

D A 5.8 

 All-Way Stop-Control    

2 SE 240th St/196th Ave SE D B 12.7 

5 SE Wax Rd/ 180th Ave SE D B 13.2 

15 SE Timberlane Boulevard/Timberlane Way SE D B 10.3 

19 SE 267th St/Timberlane Way SE D B 10.6 

1. LOS = Level of Service 

2. Delay = Average delay for all vehicles through the intersection in seconds per vehicle 

3. UC = Ultimate Capacity provided on SE 272nd Street (SR 516); operation worse than LOS D acceptable. 

4. Existing data is not available for this intersection, but existing level of service (LOS) is estimated based upon future conditions 

analysis completed at this intersection, which projects LOS A operation through 2035.   

Sources: David Evans and Associates and Heffron Transportation 2015 

Exhibit 8 summarizes capacity improvements that have been identified to meet roadway concurrency 
through 2035, in addition to continued implementation of the SE 272nd Street widening and other 
projects included in the current TIP. All of these locations are operating within the LOS D standard under 
existing conditions, and will be monitored to determine the point at which land use growth triggers a 
need for improvement. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  26 of 221109 of 183



November 2015 | Page 13 

 

Exhibit 8. Street Improvement Projects to Meet Concurrency 

    Unmitigated With Mitigation 

ID Intersection Improvement 
LOS 

Standard LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

 Stop-Controlled       

2 SE 240th St/ 

196th Ave SE 

Add eastbound left-turn 

lane 

D E 38.8 D 34.1 

5 SE Wax Rd/ 

180th Ave SE 

Add northbound right-turn 

lane or signalize 

D E 37.0 C 21.1 

 Signalized       

11 SE 256th St/ 

180th Ave SE 

Address through design of 

Capital Improvement 

Program (CIP) project 

#1056/1149 

D E 59.6 (1) (1) 

40 Covington Way/ 

SE Wax Rd 

Add southbound left-turn 

lane 

D E 71.8 C 25.2 

1. Determined through design of Capital Improvement Program (CIP) project # 1056/1149 

Sources: David Evans and Associates and Heffron Transportation 2015 

Functional Classifications 

The functional classifications of city streets are an important component of long range transportation 
planning because they reflect the mix of property access and traveler mobility that each street is 
intended to serve, and help determine the appropriate mix of facilities (e.g. vehicle lanes, walkway, 
bikeways, and/or buffer areas) that should be included on each street, based on the available space. 
Additionally, designating a street with the appropriate functional classification is critical when seeking 
federal or state grant funding for potential improvements.  

Over time, shifts in land use and traffic patterns may cause the function of a street to change. Thus, it 
is important to periodically review the functions city streets serve, and evaluate whether any changes 
in classification are warranted. Guidelines set forth by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) 
and WSDOT were applied to identify appropriate updates to the federal functional classifications of 
city streets; considerations include existing and projected future traffic volumes, characteristics of 
surrounding land uses and the balance between mobility and access the street provides, overall 
spacing of arterials and collectors within the city, and the proportions of each classification within the 
street system. Recommended updates to street classifications are proposed with the Comprehensive 
Plan Update. Exhibit 9 shows the city street system, with recommended updates to the roadway 
functional classifications. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  27 of 221110 of 183



November 2015 | Page 14 

 

Exhibit 9. Covington Street Functional Classification Map with Recommended Updates 

 

Source: City of Covington 2015 

Non-motorized Improvements 

The City is proposing a layered network approach that focuses on how the City’s transportation 
network can function as a system to meet the needs of all users. Unlike roadway standards that are 
capacity-based, the City’s proposed LOS standards for pedestrian and bicycle facilities recognize the 
primary objective of providing a complete non-motorized network that allows people to safely walk or 
bike between destinations in Covington, providing separation from vehicle traffic where needed. This 
can be achieved by providing separate vehicle and non-motorized facilities along a street where space 
allows, but it may also be achieved by identifying alternate routes for pedestrians or bicyclists that are 
parallel to corridors with high vehicle volumes. The proposed approach also recognizes that on many 
low-volume and low-speed local access streets, vehicular and non-motorized traffic may safely share 
the roadway. 

Exhibit 10 shows the medium and high priority walkway needs, and Exhibit 11 shows the medium and 
high priority bike facility needs, based upon the City’s proposed walkway and bike facility LOS 
standards in the draft Transportation Element. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  28 of 221111 of 183



November 2015 | Page 15 

 

Exhibit 10. Covington Sidewalk Inventory and Pedestrian Level of Service Map 

 

Source: City of Covington 2015 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  29 of 221112 of 183



November 2015 | Page 16 

 

Exhibit 11. Covington Bicycle Inventory and Level of Service Map 

 

Source: City of Covington 2015 

The City implements walkway and bike facility improvements to address medium (yellow) and high 
(red) priority needs identified the maps above as follows: 

 Medium and high priority pedestrian and bicycle facility needs are addressed as required 
frontage or connector improvements for new development, or as part of larger multimodal 
corridor improvements. Corridors with medium or high priority non-motorized needs 
receive first consideration for potential multimodal improvement projects.  

 Stand-alone pedestrian or bike facility improvements are considered in corridors where 
needs have been identified as funds become available, with first consideration going to 
locations of high priority need, and second consideration going to locations of medium 
priority need.  

Transit 

Bus service in Covington is provided by King County Metro (Metro) Routes 159 and 168.  As a relatively 
small community that is not designated by PSRC as an urban or regional center, Covington has not 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  30 of 221113 of 183



November 2015 | Page 17 

 

been a regional priority for improved transit service. While the City enjoys proximity to the Auburn 
and Kent Sounder Stations, direct transit connections are limited to the two routes described above 
between Covington and Kent Station. Extending rail transit service into Covington is also unlikely in the 
near term, as the City is not a part of the Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority (Sound 
Transit).    

Recent efforts related to the Town Center element of the Downtown Plan, Hawk Property Subarea 
Plan and the Downtown Design Standards and Guidelines plan for development patterns that would 
support additional transit service.  The concentration of uses in the downtown and pedestrian 
connectivity of the Town Center create a place where transit options, such as bus, Bus Rapid Transit 
(BRT), and potentially a rail connector to the regional transit system, could succeed in providing more 
frequent service and transportation choices to the community for both local and regional travel. 
Planned new development in the Lakepointe Urban Village Subarea will consist of higher density 
mixed residential and commercial uses, and the site is being designed to accommodate a park-and 
ride lot. 

Although transit service is not under Covington’s control, the City has established transit LOS 
standards in the 2015 Comprehensive Plan, summarized in Error! Reference source not found.. The 
transit LOS standards provide a means for identifying corridors where the City intends to focus on 
increased land use densities and amenities to support future transit, and to help facilitate 
communication with Metro regarding corridors where future transit improvements should be 
considered.   

Exhibit 12 shows the existing bus routes within Covington, and identifies where a need for future 
transit improvements are anticipated. 

As shown on Exhibit 12 the City has identified the following future potential improvements to transit: 

High Priority 

A new transit route is desired to support planned development in the Town Center area, as 
documented in the Downtown Plan, which includes mixed residential and commercial uses and 
pedestrian-oriented streets. The proposed additional transit route would connect the downtown 
area to other destinations in Covington and beyond Covington Way SE and SE Wax Road. 

A new transit route is desired to support planned redevelopment at the Lakepointe Urban Village 
site, located in the northwest area of Covington. The proposed additional transit route would 
connect the property to other destinations in Covington and beyond via 204th Avenue SE and SE 
256th Street. To meet this objective, the City strongly supports a potential future local bus route 
along SE 256th Street that has been identified by Metro (King County Metro, 2015). 

Medium Priority 

Increased bus frequencies, transit stop amenities, and pedestrian connections along the existing 
Route 159 to support existing and planned future land uses and multimodal choices in the 
downtown vicinity and Lakepointe Urban Village. 

Other potential future bus routes identified by Metro (King County Metro, 2015), including an 
express bus route on SR 18, and an additional local routes on 164th Avenue SE. 

 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  31 of 221114 of 183



November 2015 | Page 18 

 

Exhibit 12. Covington Transit Corridor and Level of Service Map 

 

Source: City of Covington 2015 

Public Services and Capital Facilities 

The City of Covington provides capital facilities for municipal buildings, streets, parks and recreation, 
and stormwater. Other capital facilities are provided by non-city service providers as shown Exhibit 13.  

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  32 of 221115 of 183



November 2015 | Page 19 

 

Exhibit 13. Public Service Providers  

  

 

The proposed Capital Facilities Plan (CFP) Appendix provides a summary of each providers’ facilities, 
LOS demand and planned facilities. Highlights of the analysis show: 

Municipal Buildings: If the City wishes to maintain its adopted levels of service for administrative 
space currently and in the future, additional space will be needed. In the 20-year life of the 
Comprehensive Plan, it is anticipated that the City would build a City Hall. In the interim, it is likely that 
the City would lower its LOS until such as plan can be accomplished. The City recently added 
maintenance space; recommended space needs for City maintenance facilities indicates the City may 
be able to lower their existing LOS standard.  

Police Services: The City meets its adopted service levels for officers as of 2015. In order to maintain 
current staffing standards, by 2021 the City of Covington Police Department will need to hire 
additional officers. The City could lower the LOS standard or add officers over time.  The space needs 
for officers would likely be addressed in concert with the evaluation of city hall space needs above. 

Fire Protection: Even though the response time standards have improved in the City of Covington, the 
Kent Fire Department RFA is still not meeting the suburban LOS Standard 90% of the time. Therefore, 
the Kent Fire Department is currently pursuing fire impact fees in Covington to ensure as growth 
occurs appropriate facilities are available. The Kent Fire Department’s CFP includes building an 
additional fire station in Covington, which would be better able to serve the southern part of the City. 
Additionally, Station 75 will be moved further west, and there will be an extension of SE 256th from SR 
18 out to 204th Avenue, which should improve response times in eastern Covington. 

Public Service Provider Relevant Plans and Documents

Municipal Buildings City of Covington Public Works Maintenance Facility Study 

2013 New City Hall Feasibilty Study 2012                                                                 

Police King County Sheriff (contracted service) City Council Police LOS 2007 Resolution 

(RES 07-42)

Fire and Emergency 

Services

Kent Regional Fire Authortiy, Maple Valley 

Fire District (Mutual Aid)

Kent Fire RFA: Kent Regional Fire Authority 

Capital Facilities and Equipment Plan, 2014-

33

Schools Kent School District Kent School District: Kent School District, 

Capital Facilities Plan, 2015-16

Parks and Recreation City of Covington Covington Parks and Recreation, and Open 

Space (PROS) Plan, 2010

Stormwater City of Covington Stormwater: City of Covington 2010 

Comprehensive Stormwater Plan and 2015 

Stormwater Management Plan

Streets City of Covington

Water Covington Water District, King Co. Water 

District 111, Ham Water Co.

 Covington Water District District: Covington 

Water System Plan Update, 2007

Sewer Soos Creek Water and Sewer District Soos Creek: 2014 Soos Creek Water and 

Sewer District Sewer Comprehensive Plan; 

King County Wastewater: King County 

Regional Wastewater Services Plan, 2013 

Comprehensive Review

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  33 of 221116 of 183



November 2015 | Page 20 

 

Schools: Using present student generation rates approximately 780 additional school age students 
could be added by 2021, and approximately 2,600 school-age students could be added by 2035. The 
Kent School District has identified capital projects serving Covington area residents and students; 
some of the improvements would be funded by impact fees. 

Parks: The City has a deficit for all facility types based on its present levels of service. As the 
population is expected to grow by 50% the estimated deficits are anticipated to grow. The City is 
updating its Parks, Recreation, and Open Space (PROS) Plan to consider appropriate levels of service 
and capital needs for six and 20-years.  

Stormwater: Levels of service for stormwater activities are regulated by the city code and engineering 
design standards. New development is conditioned to meet water quality, runoff control, and erosion 
control requirements. The City prepared a stormwater plan in 2010, and established a stormwater 
utility in 2012 and uses a portion of the customer rate charges to fund capital facilities. A Stormwater 
Management Plan was completed on March 31, 2015 as part of the City’s National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) Phase II permit. These plans have identified facilities, programs, and 
regulations to help manage stormwater quantity and water quality. 

Water: The Covington Water District the District has the capacity to serve its designated service area 
in the City and UGA. The District has acquired additional water rights in recent years and expects that 
water consumption rates per residential unit will continue to decline based a greater share of multi-
family units being built in the future. The District is in the process of updating their master plan, which 
was last completed in 2007. 

Wastewater: The Soos Creek Water and Sewer District develops and analyzes their own growth 
projections to ensure the District can accommodate future urban growth within their service area. The 
District indicates that new growth is partially offset by increases as residences become more efficient. 
The 2014 Soos Creek Water and Sewer District Sewer Comprehensive Plan identifies numerous capital 
projects, some of which are located within the City of Covington. All recommended projects belong to 
one of two categories, pipe replacements/upgrades or lift station replacement/upgrades. 

Transportation: This capital facility is addressed in the Transportation Element. A six-year and 20-year 
capital improvement program is included in the CFP Appendix along with revenue projections; the 
improvements are designed to meet the City’s adopted levels of service. 

PROPOSED MEASURES TO REDUCE OR RESPOND TO SUCH DEMAND(S) ARE: 

The proposed Comprehensive Plan Update includes a Transportation Element with updated 
multimodal levels of service and identified projects designed to reduce congestion and improve 
connectivity and travel by non-motorized and transit modes. 

The proposed Comprehensive Plan Update includes a Capital Facilities and Utilities Element and CFP 
Appendix. The City is establishing levels of service, funding and revenue options, and a land use 
reassessment policy should levels of service or funding be inadequate. 

G. IDENTIFY, IF POSSIBLE, WHETHER THE PROPOSAL MAY CONFLICT WITH LOCAL, STATE, OR 
FEDERAL LAWS OR REQUIREMENTS FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE ENVIRONMENT. 

The Comprehensive Plan Update is designed to meet GMA requirements for a periodic update. See 
Exhibit 14. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  34 of 221117 of 183



November 2015 | Page 21 

 

Exhibit 14. GMA Goal Consistency 

GMA Goal Discussion 

1) Urban growth. Encourage development in urban 
areas where adequate public facilities and services 
exist or can be provided in an efficient manner. 

The City’s Comprehensive Plan Update focuses growth in the 
city limits and assigned UGA. The Capital Facilities and Utilities 
Element and CFP Appendix are designed to establish levels of 
service (LOS) for projected growth. 

2) Reduce sprawl. Reduce the inappropriate 
conversion of undeveloped land into sprawling, low-
density development. 

The City’s Comprehensive Plan makes efficient use of land in 
centers (downtown and Lakepointe) while protecting residential 
neighborhood character in established neighborhoods. 

3) Transportation. Encourage efficient multimodal 
transportation systems that are based on regional 
priorities and coordinated with county and city 
comprehensive plans. 

The City is planning for multiple modes of travel consistent with 
the county and Puget Sound Regional Council’s plans. New 
multimodal LOS policies would help prioritize investments in 
pedestrian, bicycle, and transit facilities. 

4) Housing. Encourage the availability of affordable 
housing to all economic segments of the population 
of this state, promote a variety of residential 
densities and housing types, and encourage 
preservation of existing housing stock. 

The City can meet its housing targets. Housing variety is 
promoted downtown and in Lakepointe. The City is updating its 
Housing Element goals and policies based on an updated 
assessment in the Existing Conditions Report. 

5) Economic development. Encourage economic 
development throughout the state that is consistent 
with adopted comprehensive plans, promote 
economic opportunity for all citizens of this state, 
especially for unemployed and for disadvantaged 
persons, promote the retention and expansion of 
existing businesses and recruitment of new 
businesses, recognize regional differences impacting 
economic development opportunities, and 
encourage growth in areas experiencing insufficient 
economic growth, all within the capacities of the 
state's natural resources, public services, and public 
facilities. 

The City has can meet its employment targets. The City is 
focusing employment growth downtown and in Lakepointe. An 
updated Economic Development Element is part of the 
Comprehensive Plan Update. 

6) Property rights. Private property shall not be taken 
for public use without just compensation having 
been made. The property rights of landowners shall 
be protected from arbitrary and discriminatory 
actions. 

All properties are given a reasonable use of land, with at least a 
single family residence allowed. 

7) Permits. Applications for both state and local 
government permits should be processed in a timely 
and fair manner to ensure predictability. 

The City’s goal is to streamline the plan and make targeted 
changes to regulations. The City will continue to implement its 
permit procedures consistent with RCW 36.70B. 

8) Natural resource industries. Maintain and enhance 
natural resource-based industries, including 
productive timber, agricultural, and fisheries 
industries. Encourage the conservation of 
productive forest lands and productive agricultural 
lands, and discourage incompatible uses. 

The City does not have lands of long-term commercial 
significance for resources. The mining operation at Lakepointe is 
ceasing operations consistent with a reclamation plan. The 
change of the mining use was considered with the Hawk 
Property Planned Action EIS. 

9) Open space and recreation. Retain open space, 
enhance recreational opportunities, conserve fish 
and wildlife habitat, increase access to natural 
resource lands and water, and develop parks and 
recreation facilities. 

The City will implement its PROS plan, and intends to update it 
over time.  

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  35 of 221118 of 183



November 2015 | Page 22 

 

GMA Goal Discussion 

10) Environment. Protect the environment and enhance 
the state's high quality of life, including air and 
water quality, and the availability of water. 

The City is amending its Natural Environment Element policies 
and making targeted regulatory changes following a Best 
Available Science review and a code audit (respectively The 
Watershed Company fall 2015, and Parametrix 2015). 

11) Citizen participation and coordination. Encourage 
the involvement of citizens in the planning process 
and ensure coordination between communities and 
jurisdictions to reconcile conflicts. 

The City has published a schedule of public engagement 
activities and has had regular meetings with its Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

12) Public facilities and services. Ensure that those 
public facilities and services necessary to support 
development shall be adequate to serve the 
development at the time the development is 
available for occupancy and use without decreasing 
current service levels below locally established 
minimum standards. 

The Capital Facilities and Utilities Element and CFP Appendix are 
designed to establish levels of service (LOS) for projected 
growth. 

13) Historic preservation. Identify and encourage the 
preservation of lands, sites, and structures that have 
historical or archaeological significance. 

The City is updating land use element policies including one that 
indicates that new development should be sited and designed 
to protect cultural resources. 

 

7 References 

BERK and Associates. 2012. City of Covington Northern Gateway Area Study: Buildable Lands Capacity 
and Build-Out Analysis and Market Analysis. Seattle, WA: BERK and Associates. 

BERK Consulting. 2014. Corrected Land Capacity Results – City of Covington. Seattle: BERK Consulting. 

City of Covington Downtown Plan. 2005. Final Environmental Impact Statement, July 6, 2005. 

City of Covington. 2001. 2001 Comprehensive Plan, Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance (MDNS), 
July 5, 2001.  

City of Covington. 2002. 2002 Comprehensive Plan Amendments, Addendum to the 2001 
Comprehensive Plan Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance, 2002. 

City of Covington. 2003. 2003 Comprehensive Plan Amendment Docket, Addendum to Mitigated 
Determination of Nonsignificance, 2003. 

City of Covington. 2010. Covington Parks, Recreation & Open Space Plan: Promoting Community Fitness 
& Active Living. Available: 
http://www.covingtonwa.gov/covington/2010_Covington_Pros_Plan_Final.pdf. Prepared by Alta 
Planning and Design et al. 

City of Covington. 2013. Hawk Property Planned Action Environmental Impact Statement (Final EIS), 
November 14, 2013. Prepared by BERK Consulting et al. for the City of Covington. 

Interjurisdictional Staff Team, G. M. (2013). DRAFT Technical Memo on Growth Targets. Seattle: King 
County, Growth Management Planning Council. 

Kershner, K. 2013. Covington Thumbnail History. Retrieved from HistoryLink.org Online Encyclopedia of 
Washington State History: www.historylink.org. February 26, 2013. 

King County Metro, 2015. Draft Long Range Plan, Map: Service Emphasis 2: Express. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  36 of 221119 of 183



November 2015 | Page 23 

 

Muckleshoot Indian Tribe. 2015. Overview: History of the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe and its Reservation. 
Retrieved from Muckleshoot Indian Tribe: http://www.muckleshoot.nsn.us/about-us/overview.aspx. , 
July 3, 2015. 

Puget Sound Regional Council. 2008. VISION 2040, Environmental Impact Statement (Final EIS), April 
2008.   

Tetra Tech.  2014.  City of Covington Hazard Mitigation Plan.  Prepared for City of Covington Public 
Works Department. Tetra Tech. Project 103S2602. Public Review Draft. San Diego, CA. 

The Waterhsed Company. 2015. City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Update: 2015 Review Of Best 
Available Science. Prepared for City of Covington. November 2015. 

Transportation Research Board, 2010. Highway Capacity Manual, Special Report 209.  

US EPA. 2010. Smart Growth: A Guide to Development and Implementing Greenhouse Reduction 
Programs. Available: http://www3.epa.gov/statelocalclimate/documents/pdf/smart_growth_guide.pdf.  
March 2010. 

Washington Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation. 2015. Washington Information 
System for Architectural and Archaeological Records Data. Available: 
https://fortress.wa.gov/dahp/wisaard/.  Accessed November 10, 2015. 

Planning Commission Nov. 19th, 2015 

page  37 of 221120 of 183



January 2016 Prepared by BERK Consulting 1 

CITY OF COVINGTON  
2015-2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PERIODIC UPDATE 

Corrections to Addendum | January 5, 2016 

INTRODUCTION 

On November 13, 2015, the City of Covington published a Determination of Significance with Adoption of 

Existing Environmental Documents including an Addendum under the State Environmental Policy Act 

(SEPA), in accordance with State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) rules (WAC 197-11-600 and WAC 197-

11-630). The Addendum analysis indicates that the Comprehensive Plan Update proposal addressing the 

2015-2035 planning period will result in similar impacts as prior Environmental Impact Statements and 

SEPA determinations.  Based on refinements to data included in the Comprehensive Plan Update 

elements, this document provides minor corrections to the Addendum information that does not change 

the conclusions of the Addendum. 

CORRECTIONS AND CLARIFICATIONS 

Amend Exhibit 3 to remove a double count of permits from the pending development 2012 information. 

The City continues to have a capacity surplus. 

Exhibit 3. Targets and Capacity: 2012-2035 

 

Source: City of Covington; BERK Consulting 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Targets and Capacity Housing Jobs
Housing Growth Target (2006-2031) 1,470 1,320

Permits 2006-2012 (issued/finaled) - 163 1,148

Remaining Target 2012-2031 = 1,307 172

Extended Target 2031-2035 + 235 211

Remaining Target 2012-2035 = 1,542 383

Pending Development 2012, updated 2015 + 622 514

Lakepointe Urban Village Capacity + 1,500 1,889

Parcel Capacity 2012, updated 2015 + 2,164 2,093

Total Capacity = 4,286 4,496

Capacity Surplus (Deficit) versus Target 2,744 4,113

ATTACHMENT 2

121 of 183



CITY OF COVINGTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE 2015-2035 
ADDENDUM CORRECTIONS 

January 2016 Prepared by BERK Consulting 2 

Amend Exhibit 4 to correct the residential capacity to match Exhibit 3. The relationship of targets, market 

analysis and capacity remain similar. 

Exhibit 4. Growth Targets, Market Demand, Land Capacity 

 

Source: BERK Consulting 2015 

 

Amend Exhibit 7 regarding 2012 levels of service for concurrency intersections to correct a name and add 

other existing roundabouts. There are no changes in overall conclusions regarding level of service 

compliance.  

Exhibit 7. Existing (2012) Level of Service at City Concurrency Intersections – PM Peak Hour 

ID Intersection Standard LOS1 Delay2 

 Signalized    

4 SE 251st St/164th Ave SE D A 6.9 

7 SE 256th St/156th Ave SE D A 7.6 

9 SE 256th St/168th Pl SE D A 8.7 

11 SE 256th St/180th Ave SE D C 37.0 

14 SE 262nd St/180th Ave SE D B 12.4 

21 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/Covington Way UC3 E 56.6 

22 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/164th Ave SE UC3 D 37.5 

23 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/Westbound SR 18 Ramps UC3 C 28.1 

24 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/Eastbound SR 18 Ramps UC3 D 36.9 

26 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/168th Ave SE UC3 C 25.1 

29 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/172nd Ave SE UC3 C 32.7 

32 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/SE Wax Rd  UC3 D 43.2 

34 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/192nd Ave SE D B 14.8 

40 Covington Way/SE Wax Rd D C 21.0 

122 of 183



CITY OF COVINGTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE 2015-2035 
ADDENDUM CORRECTIONS 

January 2016 Prepared by BERK Consulting 3 

ID Intersection Standard LOS1 Delay2 

43 SE 270th Pl/SE Wax Rd D B 16.6 

57 SE 272nd St (SR 516)/185th Ave SE D C 25.7 

59 165th Pl SE/Covington Way 

 

D B 18.4 

233 Kentwood High School Hwy/164th Ave SE D A 4 <10.0 4 

 Roundabout    

8 SE 256th St/164th Ave SE D B 10.9 

17 SE 267th Place/SE Wax Rd/180th Ave SE D A 7.4 

44 SE 270th Place/172nd Ave SE D A 5.8 

83 Fred Meyer/Covington Square/168th Ave SE D A 7.2 

128 Costco/SE 276th St/168th Ave SE D A 6.2 
 All-Way Stop-Control    

2 SE 240th St/196th Ave SE D B 12.7 

5 SE Wax Rd/ 180th Ave SE D B 13.2 

15 SE Timberlane Boulevard/Timberlane Way SE D B 10.3 

19 SE 267th St/Timberlane Way SE D B 10.6 
1. LOS = Level of Service 

2. Delay = Average delay for all vehicles through the intersection in seconds per vehicle 

3. UC = Ultimate Capacity provided on SE 272nd Street (SR 516); operation worse than LOS D acceptable. 

4. Existing data is not available for this intersection, but existing level of service (LOS) is estimated based upon future conditions 

analysis completed at this intersection, which projects LOS A operation through 2035.   

Sources: David Evans and Associates and Heffron Transportation 2015 

Amend Exhibit 8 to show slightly lower delay for an intersection, with similar resulting conclusions: 

Exhibit 8. Street Improvement Projects to Meet Concurrency 

    Unmitigated With Mitigation 

ID Intersection Improvement 
LOS 

Standard LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

 Stop-Controlled       

2 SE 240th St/ 
196th Ave SE 

Add eastbound left-turn 
lane 

D E 38.8 D 34.1 

5 SE Wax Rd/ 
180th Ave SE 

Add northbound right-
turn lane or signalize 

D E 37.0 C 21.1 

 Signalized       

11 SE 256th St/ 
180th Ave SE 

Address through design 
of Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) project 
#1056/1149 

D E 57.9 (1) (1) 

40 Covington Way/ 
SE Wax Rd 

Add southbound left-
turn lane 

D E 71.8 C 25.2 

1. Determined through design of Capital Improvement Program (CIP) project # 1056/1149 

Sources: David Evans and Associates and Heffron Transportation 2015 

 

123 of 183



CITY OF COVINGTON 
Planning Commission Minutes 

 
November 19, 2015    City Hall Council Chambers 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Judd called the regular meeting of the Planning Commission to order at 
6:32 p.m. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
Bill Judd, Jim Langehough, Paul Max, Krista Bates and Alex White  
 
MEMBERS ABSENT Jennifer Gilbert-Smith and Chele Dimmett 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
Salina Lyons, Principal Planner 
Ann Mueller, Senior Planner 
Kelly Thompson, Planning Commission Secretary 
 
APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 1. Commissioner White moved and Commissioner Bates seconded 

to approve the November 5, 2015 minutes and consent agenda. 
Motion carried 5-0. 

 
CITIZEN COMMENTS-None 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
  
PUBLIC HEARING  
 

2. Public Hearing, Discussion and Action on the 2015 
Comprehensive Plan  

 
Chair Judd opened the Public Hearing. 
 
Community Development Director Richard Hart gave a brief overview of 

the public outreach efforts and background information of the Comprehensive 
Plan. He noted public comments received from two individuals had been 
distributed to the Planning Commission. The City Council will also hold a Public 
Hearing on January 12, 2016. 
 
 

Planning Commission Dec. 17th, 2015 

page 3 of 8

ATTACHMENT 3

124 of 183



Cliff Page – 17230 SE 267th Place – He shared his concern that there are 
contaminants in the storm water runoff in the Burwood area into Soos Creek. He 
would like to see efforts to contain this.  
 
Nicholas Skok – lives outside city limits. He would like to address light rail in the 
transportation element of the Comprehensive Plan. He also emailed comments 
that have been distributed to the Planning Commission. He feels that the needs 
of this area are underserved by mass transit and would like sound transit to have 
an open house in the community.  
 
 Commissioner White moved and Vice-Chair Max seconded to 

recommend approval of the draft 2015 Comprehensive Plan 
Periodic Update to the City Council, insubstantial form. The 
motion carried 5-0. 

 
Senior Planner Ann Mueller addressed Mr. Skok’s concerns regarding light rail. 
She explained that the City is not a part of the regional transit authority. The City 
Council passed by resolution to not be a part of the regional transit authority. 
Councilmember Mhoon sits on a regional transportation board. Mr. Hart shared 
the fact that the city recognizes the need, but Sound Transit will not hold an 
open house for us because we are not part of their organization. Covington 
works with Metro bus service. We are discussing bus rapid transit with other 
local cities. We have tried to expand and modify existing services to serve the 
community.   
 
Vice Chair Max would like to see transit to Green River Community College. 
 
The right-turn lane from SE 272nd onto Covington Way is in the 6 year Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP). The cost is $13,000,000 partly due to major 
environmental work. The City Council recognizes that turn lanes would move 
traffic better through the community. When projects are multi-million dollars, a 
city of this size cannot afford them. It is costing $12,000,000 to finish SE 272nd 
from Jenkins Creek to 184th. Mr. Hart explained how money can be raised for 
roadway improvements. The Transportation Benefit District (TBD) has been 
defeated by the voters twice. The City Council issued bonds to make major 
improvements to arterial roadways. We are paying off those bonds with sales tax 
revenue. When a project comes in and creates additional impact, fees are 
collected to mitigate the impact. 
 
NEW BUSINESS - None  

 
 
 
 

Planning Commission Dec. 17th, 2015 

page 4 of 8125 of 183



 
ATTENDANCE VOTE 
 
 Commissioner Langehough moved and Commissioner White 

seconded to excuse the absence of Commissioner Gilbert-Smith 
and Commissioner Dimmett. Motion carried 5-0.  

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS - None 
 
COMMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS FROM STAFF 
 
Ms. Mueller shared that there is a study session on the Comprehensive Plan with 
the City Council next Tuesday, November 24, 2015 at 6:00 p.m. Annexation 
documents for the Hawk Subarea Plan have been submitted to county.  
 
Mr. Hart mentioned the 184 page document that was submitted to the Planning 
Commission as public comment on the Comprehensive Plan Update and 
summarized the two points regarding environmental concerns and transparent 
public process. We have exceeded the minimum legal requirements trying to 
reach as many businesses as we could.  
 
Chair Judd asked for a copy of the City’s Mission and Vision Statement.  
 
ADJOURN  
 
The November 19, 2015 Planning Commission Meeting adjourned at 7:15 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 

 
_____________________________________________ 

    Kelly Thompson, Planning Commission Secretary 

Planning Commission Dec. 17th, 2015 

page 5 of 8126 of 183



Responses to Comments on Comprehensive Plan Update 

Public Hearing, November 19, 2015 

 
Response to comment about the need for a right-turn lane from 272nd to Covington Sawyer: 

The City’s 6-year Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) includes a project to improve 

this intersection within the next six years.  While the water district has deeded the land 

necessary to allow for a right-turn lane to the city, construction funds are not yet available.  

The Transportation Element of the draft Comprehensive Plan acknowledges the traffic 

deficiencies on 272nd, the need to improve traffic operations, and the funding challenges 

(Draft Comprehensive Plan, pages T-17 and T-26).   Policy TR-4 specifically identifies 

adopting a 6 year TIP that addresses concurrency needs as a city policy. 

 

Response to comment about expansion of the regional light rail network to Covington: 

Planning and implementation of the light rail network is the responsibility of the Central 

Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority (RTA).  The City Council has chosen not to increase 

their taxes to become a member of the RTA.  Consequently, Sound Transit does not include 

the City of Covington in its planning for light rail service.  Further, in two different elections 

during the past three years, the citizens of Covington have chosen not to increase their taxes 

to pay for street and ROW improvements.  However, the city continues to work with King 

County Metro to improve bus service for Covington and in particular, access to Sounder 

service in Kent and future light rail stations in locations outside the city limits.  The City also 

was part of a Tri-city feasibility study about two years ago to provide Diesel Motorized Units 

(DMU’s) between Maple Valley, Black Diamond and Covington and the Sounder Station in 

Auburn.  That study found the density of development, ridership, and costs of such service 

were not feasible.  The draft Comprehensive Plan contains the commitment to coordinate 

with Metro for additional transit routes and facilities (draft Comprehensive Plan, page T-25) 

as well as Goal TR-V and Policy TR-26. 

 

Response to comment on the need for improved storm water drainage in the Burwood 

Subdivision: 

Small storm water drainage upgrades from existing open ditch drainage systems along the 

ROW of streets are handled through the annual public works budget for street improvements, 

based upon availability of funds.  This area of the Burwood Subdivision has not been 

identified as a high priority in relation to other street ROW improvements, and limited funds 

are available for such improvements city-wide.  The draft Comprehensive Plan does contain 

a commitment to improve storm water drainage in residential neighborhoods depending upon 

resource availability.      

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 4

127 of 183



 
 

Response to comment on Agenda 21, lack of public notice, and lack of concern for 

environment and sustainability:    

Agenda 21 is an international 700 page global plan of action aimed at improving the 

environment & economies for all peoples of the planet through sustainability, which resulted 

from a UN Conference on the Environment & Development called the Earth Summit in 1992 

in Brazil.  While the issue of sustainability does relate to Covington’s Comprehensive Plan 

and our draft 2016 Plan does have policies and action programs for sustainability, the  major 

components of Agenda 21 relate to actions at the federal and international level.  The public 

notice and outreach efforts taken during our entire Comprehensive Plan process have always 

met and exceeded the legal requirements.  Every time there has been a public meeting or 

forum on the Comprehensive Plan, the City has gone beyond minimal legal requirements and 

used other public involvement and notice methods to encourage broad participation from all 

types of stakeholders and interest groups.    

 

 
 

 

128 of 183



ATTACHMENT 5

129 of 183

amueller
Typewritten Text
On November 18, 2015- Grazyna Prouty, a resident of Kent (12609 SE 212th Pl., Kent, WA 98031) submitted a 184 page document as written comment on the Comprehensive Plan and SEPA determination.  This document was provided electronically to the Planning Commission and City Council and is available for public review upon request at city hall.    

amueller
Typewritten Text

amueller
Typewritten Text

amueller
Typewritten Text

amueller
Typewritten Text

amueller
Typewritten Text

amueller
Typewritten Text



1

Ann Mueller

From: nicholas skok <nskok2005@yahoo.com>
Sent: Friday, December 11, 2015 12:21 PM
To: Ann Mueller
Cc: Richard Hart; Salina Lyons; Kelly Thompson
Subject: Re: Comprehensive Plan/ Open House

To Planning Commission, 

I was disappointed at the result of the most recent comprehensive planning meeting in regards to my topic of 
gaining better transportation options for the city. Instead of using the time to direct questions towards myself 
and form a discussion that could better equip members with potentially new information or answer concerns, I 
was given a response on the basis of multiple disputable points. Without having the chance to respond to 
Richard’s response or given more time to elaborate - that was readily available for discussion as only a handful 
of citizen participants were present and I was the last volunteer speaker- I’ll expand on those points briefly. 

Covington Voted Against Sound Transit Inclusion 

            I believe the vote occurred in the late nineties per Richard’s response. The increase in population, traffic, 
and commercial businesses since that time is or should be well known. The climate for pro-transit measures is 
higher than ever as seen by multiple examples including Sound Transit announcing this week they’re 
considering 15, 20, and 25yr funding packages for Rail and Rapid Bus expansion. Using a vote that took place 
years before our current conditions to justify decisions that will affect the city for the next 20yrs is 
counterintuitive.  

Covington Has Bus Route That Serves Kent Station 

            Contrary to Richard’s response, Kent Station doesn’t have nor will it have Link Light Rail. A station is 
being planned on the outskirts of Kent near I5. Adjusting or addressing the need for bus routes to this station 
haven't been brought up as far as I know. We’ve seen Seattle Metro and Sound Transit recently reshape their 
routes to better serve new stations in Capitol Hill and the University District that will open in March. The 
“Move Seattle” legislation was also heavily approved last month that reflects improved transit access and the 
pro-transportation climate for voters.  

Covington Would Pay Back-Taxes to Join Sound Transit 

            I don’t specifically know the details about the arrangement but I fail to see how a deal couldn’t be 
addressed one way or the other. Per Richard’s response, “we have a lobbyist” whom I suspect is great at 
negotiating favorable outcomes. As legislation and funding is being discussed right now for ST3, it would be 
wrong to assume options aren’t on the table.  

Covington Planners Already Worked Hard on the Plan 

            While I appreciated the effort explained to me about the previous work put into gaining social awareness 
and feedback from local citizens towards the formulation of the long term plan, it should also be appreciated 
that another voice was heard from the population and gave critical analysis while also presenting options to 
consider implementing in the plan. 

Right-Hand Turn Lane is State’s Responsibility 

130 of 183



2

            While 272nd may indeed fall under specific State funding obligation’s, it’s also counterproductive to 
make that the focal point for not expanding efforts to either fund or properly address a solution. The response 
given didn’t address any lobbyist efforts if they exist or a timetable for further project analysis if needed due to 
the newly developed lift station, though a price tag of $13 million was given. What options have been discussed 
or are moving forward? Off the top of my head, funding the project locally and getting State reimbursements 
seems plausible. Could a lane be added on the opposite side, across the street, while converting the already 
existing lane near the lift station into the right-hand-turn-lane? 

Tax Revenue in Covington is Limited 

            With the new additions of the retirement and low income housing communities adding people to the 
city, commercial and sales tax revenue will increase. Designs for the city center expansion as I read it, would 
also add $16 million dollars of additional annual revenue. With transportation and traffic as both the immediate 
concerns of the city officials and its populous, these funds should be planned to adequately update the city’s 
traffic infrastructure as they’ve lagged for one reason or another, during a period of added commercial and 
citizenship growth. Would you agree with the assessment that planning or more specifically the development in 
the transportation sector in Covington has not kept up with growth? 

Transportation/Right Hand Turn Lane is Expensive Expenditure 

            People have to stop looking at upgrading transportation infrastructure as expenditures and acknowledge 
them as an investment. How are you quantifying the amount of time and subsequently money lost in traffic 
from, among other points, higher gas bills versus the amount to improve driving conditions? 

Covington Voters Don’t Want New Taxes 

            While this was included in the response from Richard and concluded that this point could be argued for 
various reasons and shouldn’t be addressed further, I’d have to respectively disagree. Constant debate helps 
shape conditions most pressing to the public. As stated above: a vote for transportation upgrades from multiple 
revenue sources including but not limited to new taxes reflects the current voter climate while exclusion from 
Sound Transit specifically is outdated and should be readdressed on the condition of attractive returns from such 
involvement. 
            Beyond that, to my knowledge no temporary tax option was offered to voters, though I’m not familiar 
with every single past Covington vote. Distrust for temporary taxes that have traditionally been extended or 
continued for indefinite terms throughout this state which in turn has left little trust with citizens. Guaranteeing 
tax breaks after upgrades are completed could freshen the outlook on skeptics. 

Direct Bus Route to GRCC 

I did appreciate the gentleman’s proposal to incorporate a direct bus route to GRCC at the meeting. I remember 
when I attended GRCC, the frustration with parking and the lack of additional options readily available, outside 
of somehow parking in a commercial lot in town, hopping on a bus, then transferring busses to arrive to class. It 
would be fair to expand on this proposal further to address all faucets of potential riders including students at 
both high school campuses Kentlake and Kentwood, and students of college age who don’t attend high school. 
Giving the numerous domestic and foreign exchange students who live on campus at GRCC, improving their 
options to shop locally at Costco or other stores within city limits only increases the value to this proposal.  

*** 

No government, government agency, or person is perfect. The long-term plan that has been put forth isn’t 
perfect either, though comprehensive in detail. The road upgrades on 272nd planned to continue up to the Home 

131 of 183



3

Depot area, along with the “Covington Connector” are the byproducts of local state legislatures that helped 
form a statewide transportation package who happen to reside in and/or represent the area. The project’s 
themselves could’ve served the community ten years ago and don’t solve the issues today or twenty years down 
the line, which is what the comprehensive plan is supposed to address.  

It’s time to stop playing catch-up and get ahead of the curve. If you have a lobbyist, get him to lobby for more 
favorable action to occur now; if he can’t, find someone who can. Start or continue dialogue with appropriate 
parties, including officials from neighboring towns like Maple Valley City Council member Dana Parnello- a 
pro-transportation member, or Dow Constantine, Joe Fain, Pat Sullivan, Joe McDermott, Lynn Peterson, Larry 
Phillips and Dave Upthegrove.  And if you think any part of this sounds too wishful or too hard or if you want 
to disregard this email as nothing more then banter, you should consider another job or hobby for your spare 
time.  

We all read the newspapers, check the sites and see what’s going on in our state. Every other major city the 
region is standing up and demanding their dollar go further, their commute get shorter, and asking for a seat at 
the table so their constituents and citizens can get a piece of the pie. Today that pie represents the Link; it 
represents logical upgrades to improve our commute times, and it represents more options on the road and less 
time in our car away from our family, and our jobs that provide for our loved ones. I urge you to do the same- 
and if you can’t, if you really can’t, then make plan B so good that we can forget about getting left off of ST3 
for the next 25yrs and ease our frustrations about Costco shoppers and/or citizens commuting from Kent to 
Maple Valley and Auburn, that come to our town and continually impact our roads. 

 
Candidly, 
 
Nicholas Skok 

On Nov 16, 2015, at 9:34 AM, Ann Mueller <amueller@covingtonwa.gov> wrote: 
 
Dear Mr. Skok, 
  
Thank you for taking the time to review our draft 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update documents 
and provide the city comments.  I will provide a copy of your email to the Planning Commission at their 
public hearing for them to consider in their deliberation this Thursday.  Please note that the City Council 
is tentatively expected to hold a public hearing on the 2015 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update on 
January 12, 2015.  If you would provide me your mailing address I can add you as a party of record to 
receive notification of that public hearing. 
  
Regards, 
  
Ann 
  
Ann Mueller, AICP, Senior Planner 
City of Covington 
Hours: Mon, Tue & Wed 9am‐ 4:30pm 
(253) 480‐2444(direct) 
amueller@covingtonwa.gov 
  
www.covingtonwa.gov/Update2015 
www.facebook.com/CityofCovington 
  
<image001.png> 
  

132 of 183



4

  
  

From: nicholas skok [mailto:nskok2005@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Friday, November 13, 2015 5:27 PM 
To: Richard Hart <rhart@covingtonwa.gov> 
Cc: Ann Mueller <amueller@covingtonwa.gov> 
Subject: Comprehensive Plan/ Open House 
  
To Ann and Richard, 
  
As I may most likely be out of town on business next week during the open house I wanted to 
bring up two transportation issues that I’d like to see addressed in the comprehensive plan.  
  
1. The first issue was not mentioned in any part of the plan whatsoever and I’m a bit shocked. If 
this has indeed escaped you I’m happy that I’m the one to bring awareness to the issue. Simply 
put, we need a right-turn lane from 272nd to Covington Sawyer. With the influx in traffic from 
people who are trying to either go to Costco or who live up Covington Sawyer towards Druids 
Glen, they’re both stuck behind cars in the current lane that want to turn right, and in the way of 
cars that want to go straight into Covington.  
  
As this is the entrance to the City of Covington from Kent and a major point of traffic, especially 
during rush hour, I’m surprised that this hasn’t been discussed or already upgraded by now. 
There’s currently commercial real estate being developed along the side of the road there and an 
improved traffic path would not only be more efficient, but safer for drivers. I’ve brought this 
concern up to all three representatives of our district including Rep. Hargrove, Senator Fain, and 
Rep Sulivan, as well as Don Vondran as he was the point man during recent construction.  
  
During all of the road work in that specific area over the last year and all the equipment in place 
for road construction, I was surprised no road improvements were made as it’s a common sense 
fix. This on top of the fact that there was all that extra time added to the commute times for 
residents in the area, yet they got nothing to show for it in the way of something like a turn-lane 
or improved conditions. I understand that this sewage work was a part of a separate project not 
related to road development but the foresight was lost here I think. This lane needs to be added. 
It will cut down commute times for Covington residents entering the city, residents who live up 
the road on Covington Sawyer, shoppers from surrounding areas, and Maple Valley residents 
who cut through on 272nd. Simple fix. Needs to be addressed. 
  
2. The second issue was slightly addressed in the comprehensive plan. It brought to light the 
awareness of creating a route for potential light rail expansion. Two points need to be agreed to 
when discussing this possibility:  
             
            a) This is time sensitive. ST3 is being formulated and planned now for legislation for 
2016. If Covington, (and Auburn, Maple Valley, presumable connecting points) doesn’t get a 
station to be researched and potentially developed on that piece of legislation that will ask for up 
to $15 billion dollars, we will miss our chance for the next 20 years as that’s how long the 
perceived development of the plan will last. And isn’t the next 20 years the focal point of our 
comprehensive plan? More needs to be done to contact Sound Transit and become a part of the 
Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority if that’s what it takes. This is a huge opportunity 
for our town to have the option to have a dependable and safe commute to work, for students to 
have a safe and easy option to get to campus, and to take cars off the road for those of us who 
prefer to drive. 

133 of 183



5

             
            b) Mentioned in the plan was the option to have a “town center” built either around or 
near a potential rail stop. While this is a good option, I’ve specifically talked to planners on the 
Sound Transit team and they’re turned off by these models for stations. While this doesn’t mean 
this can’t be or shouldn’t be developed, it should be noted and agreed to that a number of stations 
already in service and being developed are no more than an evolved Park & Ride station. This 
can also be a great option and should be thought of as a leading model for future development as 
a plethora of parking will indeed be sought after- spaces that wouldn’t be infringed on by would-
be shoppers in a town center model. A great example of a P&R is the one on Mercer Island. 
They’ve created a second level of parking underground to add space and limit an eye sore of 
what would be a parking garage installation. Safety and security is well maintained and a non 
issue there so it shouldn’t be one here in that instance.  
  
The point I really want to drive home here is that getting a Sound Transit station is a very real 
possibility but the action would need to be taken now before the final list of projects is made. 
ST3 will have one final round of appeals and feedback and the opinion’s of yourself and our city 
council would make a difference I think. A vote or a request for feedback in the Covington 
Reporter and/or your website and Facebook may also help you gather local support. Clearly, the 
entire region is being connected and only Covington, Auburn, Maple Valley and parts of Kent 
are being the one’s left out. As we’re going to be paying taxes, sitting in the same traffic as 
everyone else, and a huge part of this county that always seems to be forgotten, I hope you’ll 
raise your hands and not let them dismiss us. Our commutes matter too, as we drive a long way 
to Seattle, Bellevue, and Tacoma. 
  
I’ve attached a photo of the light rail stations in service with stations that may also be developed. 
I’ve added a line showing a possibility of how/where we’d be connected. Ideally, a stop would 
be made connecting Covington with GRCC for all the students from our city that commute to 
campus. With their construction and development it shouldn’t be hard, logistically speaking. 
Beyond GRCC a stop either at or also at Auburn Station and the old Super Mall, with it finally 
connecting to “the spine” in Federal Way or the future Kent stop, Covington residents could get 
to and from Seattle, Tacoma and the airport with ease. Moving east it can connect along 
Highway 18 in Maple Valley near their P&R. Continuing on, moving either east up to the 
planned Issaquah stop that connects to Bellevue or to the proposed Renton station that would 
also connect to Bellevue would also be ideal.  
  
I look forward to hearing from you. Thank you for fighting the good fight. I hope I helped your 
efforts. 
  
Candidly, 
  
Nick Skok 
  
<image002.jpg> 

 

134 of 183



 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
1011 Plum Street SE    PO Box 42525    Olympia, Washington 98504-2525    (360) 725-4000 

www.commerce.wa.gov 
 
December 14, 2015 
 
 
 
Ms. Ann Mueller 
Senior Planner 
City of Covington Community Development 
16720 Southeast 271st Street Suite 100 
Covington, Washington  98042 
 
RE:  Proposed 2015 comprehensive plan update 
 
Dear Ms. Mueller: 
 
Thank you for sending Growth Management Services the proposed amendments to the City of 
Covington’s comprehensive plan that we received on October 29, 2015, and processed with 
Material ID No. 21799.  We have reviewed the submitted materials and offer the following 
comments for your consideration: 
 
We especially like the following: 
 

• The plan is well organized and is user-friendly.  The framework goals included in the 
introduction chapter set the tone of the plan and subsequent plan elements. 

• The plan acknowledges the importance of coordinated planning efforts, both at the 
regional scale and with adjacent jurisdictions. 

• The plan further acknowledges there is adequate capacity to meet the projected 
population and employment growth. 

• The city prepared a market study to demonstrate that it can accommodate the projected 
growth targets but also shows there is room for additional capacity within the 20 year 
planning horizon, should growth occur at a faster rate.  We recognize that the City will 
monitor this over the next few years and can reassess this in annual amendments or with 
the next periodic update if any modifications are needed. 

• The city has identified locations, such as the Lakepointe Urban Village and Town Center, 
for future growth and is planning for a mix of land uses at higher intensities than exist in 
the existing, primarily single family residential neighborhoods.  The outcome will be a 
broader range of housing options, including more moderate and high density multi-family 
options.  This will increase choice in housing types and promote greater housing 
affordability, while maintaining the character of existing neighborhoods. 

ATTACHMENT 6a

135 of 183



Ms. Ann Mueller 
December 14, 2015 
Page 2 
 

• The Transportation Element includes goals and policies designed to increase the ability of 
pedestrians, bicyclists, and transit users to meet their mobility needs, and promote non-
motorized forms of travel, while still accommodating vehicular traffic.  We commend the 
city for identifying and prioritizing pedestrian and bicycle improvements. 

 
We have a suggestion for strengthening your plan amendments that we encourage you to modify 
before adopting the amendments: 
 
We suggest the city add a policy to ensure budget decisions are consistent with the 
comprehensive plan. You may want to consider adding such language to Policy CF-26. 
 
We have a suggestion for strengthening your plan amendments that we encourage you to 
consider either in these or future amendments: 
 
The plan shows a funding gap of approximately $78 million over the 20-year planning horizon.  
While the Capital Facilities Appendix includes a discussion of potential strategies to help 
overcome that gap, and the comprehensive plan itself includes a policy to reassess the land use 
element if there is a funding shortfall, we strongly encourage the city to develop a strategy to 
meet these financial needs identified in the plan. 
 
Congratulations to you and your staff for the good work these amendments represent.  If you 
have any questions or concerns about our comments or any other growth management issues, 
please contact me at joyce.phillips@commerce.wa.gov or 360.725.3045.  We extend our 
continued support to the City of Covington in achieving the goals of growth management. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Joyce Phillips, AICP 
Growth Management Planner 
Growth Management Services 
 
JMP:lw 
 
cc: Richard Hart, Community Development Director, City of Covington 

Jeffrey S. Wilson, AICP, Senior Managing Director, Growth Management Services 
David Andersen, AICP, Eastern Region Manager, Growth Management Services 
Ike Nwankwo, Western Region Manager, Growth Management Services 
Michael Hubner, Principal Planner, Puget Sound Regional Council 
Yorik Stevens-Wajda, Associate Planner, Puget Sound Regional Council 

136 of 183

mailto:joyce.phillips@commerce.wa.gov


 

 

 

 

December 1, 2015 

 

Richard Hart, Director 

Department of Community Development 

City of Covington 

16720 SE 271st St. 

Covington, WA 98042 

 

Subject:  PSRC Comments on Draft Covington Comprehensive Plan Update 

  

Dear Mr. Hart,  

 

Thank you for providing an opportunity for the Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) to review a draft 

of the City of Covington 2015 Comprehensive Plan update. We recognize the substantial amount of time 

and effort invested in this plan, and appreciate the chance to review it while in draft form. This timely 

collaboration helps to ensure certification requirements are adequately addressed and certification action 

can be taken by PSRC boards after adoption. 

We would like to note the many outstanding aspects of the draft plan. Several particularly noteworthy 

aspects include: 

 The plan overall is well-organized and highly readable. Action plans, which are included at the 

end of each plan element, point toward the city’s near- and long-term work plan and capital 

investments. 

 The plan includes an optional natural environment element, which includes strong policies that 

promote water quality, hydrologic function, and related habitat. Policies NE-15 to 22 notably 

promote low-impact development and best practices in stormwater management. Also notable are 

Policies NE-11 and 12, along with CF-42 and 43, which address public and private energy 

efficiency as a means to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

 The land use element encourages compact development in central places within the city: the 

Town Center and the Lakepointe development. Policies and actions for those planning areas 

promote mixed-use development and transit-supportive densities and design. 

 An economic development element sets clear goals, policies, and actionable strategies intended to 

diversify the local economy, especially focused on bolstering local capture of the health care 

sector employment growth, and through opportunities for new employment centers in the 

Downtown and Lakepointe areas. 

 The transportation element includes clear mapping and prioritization of transportation 

investments based on a layered network approach. Policies TR-17 to 22 promote non-motorized 

transportation options in key locations and corridors in the city. 

The draft comprehensive plan advances regional policy in many important ways. There are some items, 

however, that should be addressed before the plan is finalized: 

PSRC Comment City Response 

 VISION 2040 calls for local plans to include a context 

statement that describes how the comprehensive plan 

addresses regional policies and provisions adopted in 

VISION 2040. While the draft plan broadly addresses, 

See pages LU-24 and LU-25 

for a statement of consistency 

which is similar in level of 

ATTACHMENT 6b

137 of 183



 2 

PSRC Comment City Response 

both in the introduction and in the land use element, 

consistency with VISION 2040, the city should more 

explicitly describe how the plan addresses the Multicounty 

Planning Policies and Regional Growth Strategy in 

VISION 2040. Examples of context statements are 

provided in PSRC’s Plan Review Manual, page 2-1. 

detail and form as the 

example referenced. 

 One key criterion for regional certification of local 

comprehensive plans is alignment with the Regional 

Growth Strategy and with growth targets adopted by each 

county. The draft Covington comprehensive plan is based 

on growth assumptions for the 20-year planning period that 

significantly exceed the adopted housing and employment 

growth targets for the city. We address this issue in more 

detail, including guidance on documentation, policies, and 

actions, in a separate letter to the city dated November 30. 

See responses on the separate 

letter.  

 VISION 2040 (see MPP-DP-1) promotes a framework to 

ensure the “long term stability and sustainability of the 

urban growth area” (UGA). MPP-G-1 calls for coordinated 

planning among agencies around issues of regional 

significance. The draft comprehensive plan (see Policy 

LU-19) supports expansion of the urban growth area 

adjacent to the City of Covington. As guided by VISION 

2040, the city should consider revising the plan to clarify 

the city’s intention to pursue any UGA changes in 

coordination with King County and within a common 

framework and criteria established by the countywide 

planning policies. Given Covington’s status as a Small 

City in the Regional Growth Strategy, and regional efforts 

to preserve the rural area, the city should alternatively 

consider removing Policy LU-19 altogether.   

Comment noted. The qualities 

of the subject area were 

studied in the Northern 

Gateway Study in 2012. The 

City in the past has 

coordinated with King County 

on the appropriate process, 

and intends to continue that 

effort. A revised policy is 

under consideration as 

follows: 

 

Policy LU-19. Continue to 

support the expansion of the 

city’s urban growth area in the 

northern gateway to the city 

to include land east of 180th 

Ave SE between SE Wax 

Road and SR 18. Pursue 

changes to the urban growth 

area based on criteria in the 

countywide planning policies 

and in coordination with King 

County. 

 The housing element addresses broadly many facets of 

future housing need. Existing conditions data provides a 

rich basis for policies and actions to address those needs. 

Particularly strong are policies encouraging a range of 

housing types, commitment to regional coordination, and a 

focus on meeting the needs of seniors and people with 

disabilities. The housing needs assessment  shows gaps 

Housing needs are 

summarized on pages H-3 and 

H-7 based on the Existing 

Conditions Report (which will 

be adopted by reference with 

the Plan Update). The 

“Housing Plan” identifies 

138 of 183

http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/pr-manual/


 3 

PSRC Comment City Response 

between the existing housing stock and current and future 

demand for affordable housing, including housing that 

meets the needs of the local workforce as well as the 

affordable housing goals in the King County CPPs. The 

housing element should highlight the identified needs and 

address specific steps to meet that need in policies and in 

the  action plan. The PSRC site 

http://www.psrc.org/growth/housing/ and ARCH provide 

information about potential actions, such as new regulatory 

tools and incentives, public investments, and partnerships, 

to address support for affordable housing called for in 

Policies HO-11 to 17. 

ways in which the City 

intends to meet local needs 

are highlighted on pages H-9 

through H-12. The Draft 

Element is being further 

amended to add a subsection 

on implementation of recent 

tools adopted by the City such 

as the Multifamily Tax 

Exemption and Development 

Agreements with developers 

of affordable housing (applied 

with a Downtown mixed use 

project in 2014). 

 The PSRC Plan Review Manual calls for the transportation 

element of local plans to “focus system improvements to 

support existing and planned development as allocated by 

the Regional Growth Strategy,” and also to “demonstrate 

that travel demand forecasts and transportation need 

assessments are always based on land use assumptions that 

correspond with the most recently adopted growth targets.” 

The draft plan lacks detail on land use assumptions used as 

a basis for forecasting future transportation needs. The city 

should add information on the total amount of population, 

housing, and employment growth assumed during the 20-

year planning period and explain how it relates to the land 

use element, future growth areas within the city, and 

adopted growth targets. 

1) The market study growth – 

documented on page LU-8 – 

is what was used in the 

transportation plan. Page LU-

8 indicates the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan uses the 

market demand study in order 

to plan for capital facilities, 

utilities, and services. 

Amendments are proposed to 

the Draft Plan to add 

“transportation” to that list.  

2) The City’s transportation 

model assumes regional 

growth plan assumptions 

outside the city limits; this 

will be clarified in 

amendments to the Draft Plan. 

See responses on growth 

targets under separate cover 

illustrating: 

 the efficient land use plan that 

the City has created,  

 the City’s significant progress 

on its growth target,  

 the pending pipeline 

development at the start of the 

plan that show targets are 

already met for jobs and half 

met for homes, and  

139 of 183

http://www.psrc.org/growth/housing/


 4 

PSRC Comment City Response 

growth targets are a floor, not 

a ceiling (Davidson Serles, 

09-3-0007c, FDO 10/5/2009, 

at 11). 

 The Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A.070(6)) 

requires that local comprehensive plans include a multiyear 

transportation financing plan for how the jurisdiction will 

meet the mobility needs identified for the planning period. 

The financing plan should include a list of investments to 

meet transportation needs over the planning period, 

estimated costs for those investments, estimated probable 

revenues available to the local jurisdiction, and a 

reassessment strategy in the event revenues fall short of 

costs. While the transportation element and capital 

facilities element and appendix address many aspects of 

the financing plan, the plan would more clearly address the 

GMA requirements with the following: 

The Capital Facilities Plan 

Appendix contains a multi-

year plan – see responses 

below for more information. 

o Provide a complete transportation project list for the 

20-year planning period  
Please see the Capital 

Facilities Appendix, Exhibit 

45. Six-year Transportation 

Capital Improvement 

Program. The exhibit shows 

projects both in the 2016-

2021 period and the 2022-

2035 period. Thus the title of 

the Exhibit will be amended 

to say: 

Exhibit 45. Six-year and 20-

year Transportation Capital 

Improvement Program. 
o Provide preliminary cost estimates for roadway, 

pedestrian, and bicycle improvements identified 

through the 2035 plan horizon 

See the CFP appendix 

(Exhibit 45) for transportation 

costs at the 6 and 20 year 

periods. Descriptions of 

projects will be added to show 

the multimodal nature of 

several transportation 

projects. Please also see the 

projected parks projects list 

that includes trails. 
o Summarize the forecast of probable funding resources 

for transportation through the 2035 plan horizon 
See the Capital Facilities 

Appendix where revenues are 

projected including REET, 

transportation impact fees, 
o Identify whether funding resources are sufficient to 

meet  estimated costs of identified improvements 

140 of 183



 5 

PSRC Comment City Response 

Further guidance on how to address the financial analysis in the 

plan can be found in the Department of Commerce’s 

Transportation Element Guidebook, pages 202 through 212. 

grants, and other historic and 

future funding options. Note 

that the City recently passed 

an annual vehicle licensing 

fee that was recommended as 

an option and the Appendix is 

being updated. 

PSRC has resources available to assist the city in addressing these comments. We have provided links to 

online documents in this letter, and additional resources related to the plan review process can also be 

found at http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/resources/. 

Thank you again for working with us through the plan review process.  There is a lot of excellent work in 

the draft and we are available to continue to provide assistance and additional reviews as the plan moves 

through the development process. If you have questions or need additional information, please contact me 

at 206-971-3289 or mhubner@psrc.org.      

 

Sincerely, 

 
 

Michael Hubner, AICP 

Principal Planner 

Growth Management Planning 

 

 

cc:  Review Team, Growth Management Services, Department of Commerce 

 

 

141 of 183

http://www.commerce.wa.gov/Documents/GMS-Transportation-2012.pdf
http://www.psrc.org/growth/planreview/resources/


 

 

 

 

December 1, 2015 

 

Richard Hart, Director 

Department of Community Development 

City of Covington 

16720 SE 271st St. 

Covington, WA 98042 

 

Subject:  PSRC Comments on Draft Covington Comprehensive Plan Update Growth Assumptions 

  

Dear Mr. Hart,  

 

Thank you for submitting the adopted 2015 Comprehensive Plan for certification review by the Puget 

Sound Regional Council. Certification is based on reviewing plans according to the plan review checklist 

to ensure that the plan is consistent with provisions of the Growth Management Act, VISION 2040 and 

the Regional Growth Strategy. 

 

The draft updated plan for the City of Covington includes a number of impressive features as we noted in 

the comment letter provided on December 1, 2015. We appreciate the hard work that went into updating 

what is overall an excellent plan. However, we hope to discuss with you how to resolve the growth 

assumptions in the plan that significantly exceed the adopted growth targets for your community. 

 

Recently, the Growth Management Policy Board and the Regional Staff Committee discussed how to 

review plans that are significantly out of alignment with adopted targets and the Regional Growth 

Strategy, specifically where local growth assumptions for Small Cities exceed the countywide growth 

targets and regional expectations as established in VISION 2040. The Growth Management Policy Board 

and Regional Staff Committee recognized that some local factors may be unavoidable, but also noted that 

the Regional Growth Strategy is important and cities should demonstrate how they are working toward it. 

Both noted as well that, while some local flexibility may be warranted, the countywide target setting 

process is the opportunity to regionally collaborate on the preferred distribution of growth.  

 

We would like to work with you to better understand the growth assumptions in your plan and to identify 

whether there are any feasible plan changes that would demonstrate consistency with the Regional 

Growth Strategy, including lowering your growth assumptions to be more in line with adopted targets. 

 

To aid reviewing Small Cities’ plans that exceed adopted targets, staff proposed a draft framework to the 

Regional Staff Committee. While this review framework is still draft, it may facilitate our understanding 

of your community’s plan. We would like your assistance understanding how the plan responds to the 

aspects of the framework, which addresses the following points: 

 

ATTACHMENT 6c

142 of 183



 2 

Comment City Response 

 Document and explain rationale for local 

planning numbers. The plan and supporting 

documentation should make clear what factors 

were used to determine future growth estimates, 

including relevant detail on recent historical 

growth, development permits in the pipeline, and 

zoned capacity. The plan should make clear why 

the resulting growth assumptions represent a 

reasonable approach to balancing regional and 

countywide policies, targets, and impacts with 

local factors that may be beyond jurisdiction 

control. 

See the City’s market study prepared 

in 2012 with the Northern Gateway 

Study, provided to PSRC on October 

29, 2015. 

 

1) Within the City limits the City grew 

significantly between 2006 and 2012 

(see market study and pp. LU-3 to LU-

9 that document the rate of growth – 

higher than the County overall even 

during the recession), especially with 

jobs nearly meeting its jobs growth 

target and making a dent in its housing 

target even during the recession. 1 The 

City grew its jobs during the recession 

– uncommon in the region during that 

time. See for example Exhibit 10. Net 

Change in Employment by Year, King 

County, 2006-2012 in the Buildable 

Lands Report.  

 

2) The City’s pipeline of approved 

projects in 2012 forward shows 785 

dwellings and 514 jobs (See Land Use 

Element Exhibit 6)– putting the City 

over its jobs target at the start of the 

plan and cutting in half its remaining 

housing target for the 20 years. 

Additionally, the City has: 1) a subarea 

plan for its Town Center, 2) a 

development agreement for a 

Downtown mixed use multi-story 

property, 3) a subarea plan of the 

Lakepointe site, and 4) has approved 

annexation of the Lakepointe site. The 

City must plan for the growth 

expected. To only plan for targets 

means the City cannot adequately plan 

for the resources and infrastructure its 

community needs. 

3) The City is planning in a responsible 

way with mixed uses in the Downtown 

                                                 
1 Unlike most cities in the County, Covington only counted finaled permits in its accounting of progress towards 

targets in its land capacity analysis, not just issued permits, a conservative approach. 

143 of 183



 3 

Comment City Response 

and Lakepointe to reduce pressure on 

changes to the UGA boundary, and to 

properly provide for a range of housing 

and job choices. The City is applying 

reasonable measures and is minimizing 

any future potential for a UGA change. 

4) Growth management hearings board 

cases have indicated that targets are a 

floor and not a ceiling. (Davidson 

Serles, 09-3-0007c, FDO 10/5/2009, at 

11.) 

5) VISION 2040 does not allocate 

specific growth targets to cities.2 

6) The City requested a change to 

targets in 2012, but King County 

indicated they would not be pursuing 

changes to targets and that it would 

happen in a future year but not in time 

for this plan review.  

7) The Department of Commerce is 

satisfied, and King County made no 

comments on the use of the market 

demand growth which shows the City 

can meet its growth targets. 

8) The City tested this proposed 

market-based growth with the Hawk 

Property Subarea Plan and EIS. The 

notice was provided to PSRC and the 

City received no comments.  

9) The City will be revisiting growth 

targets when the County revises its 

estimates after the 2017 OFM 

forecasts, as well as in the 8 year cycle 

per GMA and can account for any 

changed conditions at that time. 

 Support for the Regional Growth Strategy. 
The plan should include a VISION 2040 context 

statement that acknowledges the Regional 

Growth Strategy, including the role of Small 

Cities, along with a policy commitment to 

working toward achieving the Regional Growth 

See pages LU-24 and LU-25 for a 

statement of consistency which is 

similar in level of detail and form as 

the example referenced. 

                                                 
2 See Regional Growth Strategy, pp. 17-19, 

http://www.psrc.org/assets/1737/Part_II_Regional_Growth_Strategy.pdf?processed=true. 

144 of 183

http://www.psrc.org/assets/1737/Part_II_Regional_Growth_Strategy.pdf?processed=true


 4 

Comment City Response 

Strategy within the countywide framework for 

coordination around growth targets. 

 Actions to “bend the trend” of future growth. 
Given that some growth above and beyond 

adopted targets may be unavoidable, the plan 

should include policies and actions that move the 

city toward greater alignment with the growth 

targets and the Regional Growth Strategy over 

time, both within the 20-year planning period and 

beyond.  PSRC staff is available to discuss with 

you a range of actions that may help to manage 

the amount and timing of future residential and 

employment growth. 

To address that growth above and 

beyond the target is likely given the 

City’s pipeline growth and approved 

and pending development agreements 

and adopted mixed use plans for 

Downtown and Lakepointe, the City 

could amend the draft plan by: 

1) adding a policy to fix the growth 

target to reallocate growth from other 

Small Cities or the Unincorporated 

UGA or other communities to 

Covington; and  

2) amending the Draft to better 

illustrate how the City’s approach to 

development helps manage growth – 

e.g. high quality LOS standards, 

transportation impact fees, addition of 

parks impact fees, SEPA conditions, 

design standards, etc. The City’s LOS 

standards are appropriate for its 

community (e.g. LOS D for 

transportation) and do not make it easy 

to develop.  

PSRC comments about the range of 

actions affecting amount and timing of 

growth could be construed to mean 

metering permits, or changing growth 

plans in Downtown or at Lakepointe – 

that is beyond the scope of PSRC to 

request as GMA is a bottoms up 

approach, and the City is planning 

efficiently consistently with GMA 

goals to promote urban growth, avoid 

sprawl, and meet its community’s 

desired levels of service. Again, 

growth targets being a floor and not a 

ceiling: 

The Board reads these provisions 

together as indicating that the 

population and employment targets 

allocated to cities by countywide 

145 of 183



 5 

Comment City Response 

planning policies are intended to 

require each city to zone areas and 

densities sufficient to accommodate 

that growth; in other words, the 

targets create a floor for zoned 

capacity, not a ceiling. [Davidson 

Serles, 09-3-0007c, FDO 10/5/2009, 

at 11.] 

 Manage additional growth consistent with 

VISION 2040. The plan should include policies 

and actions that address the impacts of the higher 

planned growth numbers on local and regional 

infrastructure and on the adjacent area. Plans 

should demonstrate an extra effort to achieve 

compact development patterns, reduce impacts on 

regional facilities, and protect adjacent rural and 

resource lands. 

The Downtown plan and Lakepointe 

plan shows the City’s efforts to 

achieve compact growth. The City’s 

LOS standards are appropriate for a 

municipality of Covington’s size and 

community’s quality of life, and do not 

burden the regional transportation 

system. The City is conditioning major 

developments to meet WSDOT 

requirements (e.g. Lakepointe). The 

City is allowing and promoting 

regional trails. The City is pursuing 

transit options. The City has strong 

parks standards and is adding parks 

impact fees. 

The City applies landscaping standards 

in all developments, and its densities at 

its borders are generally compatible 

with adjacent communities, natural 

systems (e.g. Soos Creek Trail and 

Greenway abutted by large lot 

residential), and rural lands. Where 

Lakepointe meets the rural area to the 

east, it will maintain a wide natural 

corridor along Jenkins Creek. 

Lakepointe and Downtown have 

design standards addressing major 

routes such as SR 18. 

146 of 183



 6 

Comment City Response 

 Coordination with other jurisdictions and 

agencies. Regional coordination is a hallmark of 

VISION 2040 and the countywide planning 

process. The plan should demonstrate a 

heightened degree of coordination with adjacent 

cities and towns, counties, and other agencies, 

such as WSDOT and local and regional transit 

agencies. Such coordination should address 

growth targets, transportation impacts, and 

compatibility of plans and investments where 

local planning departs from agreed-upon targets. 

The City has engaged WSDOT and 

adjacent cities in 2013 with the 

Downtown Plan, Hawk Property 

Subarea Plan and Planned Action EIS. 

The City tested the proposed greater 

growth across the city’s planning area 

with the Hawk Property Subarea Plan 

and EIS. Notice was provided to PSRC 

and the City received no comments. 

The City is part of a multi-agency 

coalition addressing SE 272nd Street 

(SR 516). The City is coordinating 

with King County on regional trails. 

These are just a few examples of the 

City’s efforts. 
Thank you again for working with us through the plan review process.  There is a lot of excellent work in 

the draft and we are available to continue to provide assistance and additional reviews as the plan moves 

through the development process. If you have questions or need additional information, please contact me 

at 206-971-3289 or mhubner@psrc.org.      

 

Sincerely, 

 
 

Michael Hubner, AICP 

Principal Planner 

Growth Management Planning 

 

 

cc:  Review Team, Growth Management Services, Department of Commerce 

 

 

147 of 183



 

 

 

 

 

 

December 18, 2015 

 

Richard Hart, Director 

Department of Community Development 

City of Covington 

16720 SE 271st St. 

Covington, WA 98042 

 

Subject:  PSRC Comments on Draft Covington Comprehensive Plan Follow Up 

  

Dear Mr. Hart,  

As expressed previously, thank you for submitting the adopted 2015 City of Covington comprehensive 

plan for certification review by the Puget Sound Regional Council. We appreciate the hard work that went 

into updating what is overall an excellent plan.  

We appreciate the thorough responses to our initial comment letters sent to you on December 1. This 

letter is a requested follow up to the city’s responses emailed on December 10. Our focus here will be the 

issues covered under the subject of “PSRC Comments on Draft Covington Comprehensive Plan Update 

Growth Assumptions” which were discussed in our meeting on December 11. We are available to also 

provide feedback regarding other comments and questions of PSRC’s plan review, as needed. Please feel 

free to call us to discuss. 

As you are aware, certification is based on reviewing plans for consistency with provisions of the Growth 

Management Act, VISION 2040 and the Transportation 2040. The scope of PSRC’s comments regarding 

the growth planned for in the comprehensive plan are based specifically on the Regional Growth Strategy 

in VISION 2040 and prior guidance from the PSRC boards on addressing alignment with that strategy in 

reviewing plans for regional certification.  

Recent discussions at the GMPB and Regional Staff Committee have focused on clarifying a framework 

and criteria for certification of plans adopted by jurisdictions classified as Small Cities and planning for 

housing and/or employment growth significantly exceeding adopted countywide targets. We included the 

proposed framework in our earlier letter and repeat it here as a way of organizing our comments. 

ATTACHMENT 6d

148 of 183



 

 2 

Comment City Response 

1. Document and explain rationale for local 

planning numbers. The plan and supporting 

documentation should make clear what factors 

were used to determine future growth estimates, 

including relevant detail on recent historical 

growth, development permits in the pipeline, and 

zoned capacity. The plan should make clear why 

the resulting growth assumptions represent a 

reasonable approach to balancing regional and 

countywide policies, targets, and impacts with 

local factors that may be beyond jurisdiction 

control. 

Comment: Exhibit 6 in the land use element of the 

plan and supporting text do a good job of showing 

the basis for the housing and employment growth 

anticipated by the City of Covington. This is 

important information for the GMPB to consider in 

reviewing the overall plan and specifically in 

evaluating how the plan has addressed regional 

policy in light of local factors. 

Thank you for acknowledging the 

City’s information. The Land Use 

Element is further amended to 

explain the planning numbers, 

including the level of pending 

development and approved plans, 

such as in Downtown and with 

Lakepointe Urban Village. 

2. Support for the Regional Growth Strategy. 

The plan should include a VISION 2040 context 

statement that acknowledges the Regional 

Growth Strategy, including the role of Small 

Cities, along with a policy commitment to 

working toward achieving the Regional Growth 

Strategy within the countywide framework for 

coordination around growth targets. 

Comment: The Statement of Consistency in the land 

use element addresses VISION 2040, but should be 

amended to acknowledge and support the Regional 

Growth Strategy, including intent to pursue policies 

and actions that work toward a level of growth and 

development in Covington that is consistent with its 

role in the region as a Small City, while at the same 

time managing the growth that is anticipated in a 

way that achieves broader policy guidance in 

VISION 2040. 

The statement of consistency is 

further amended to identify the 

City’s Small City role, and the 

City’s intent to continue 

intergovernmental coordination, 

monitor growth, and revise growth 

targets. 

149 of 183



 

 3 

Comment City Response 

3. Actions to “bend the trend” of future growth. 

The plan should include policies and actions that 

move the city toward greater alignment with the 

growth targets and the Regional Growth Strategy 

over time, both within the 20-year planning 

period and beyond.  

Comment: Neither the draft plan nor the city’s 

response to our earlier comments address policies or 

actions that would affect the amount or timing of 

development to achieve a closer alignment with the 

targets or with VISION 2040. This is something that 

should be addressed in the final adopted plan.  

The plan has been amended to 

further specify the City’s approach: 

 Added a new framework policy 

on intergovernmental 

coordination in the Plan 

Foundation chapter. 

 Text on targets and capacity has 

been updated on pages LU-8 to 

LU-10. The graph shows 

“unavoidable growth.” 

 The VISION 2040 “consistency 

statement” is amended to address 

coordination, monitoring, and 

revising targets. 

 Policy LU-3 is added regarding 

targets. 

 Policy LU-20 has an added 

sentence on coordination with 

King County on any UGA 

changes. 

 Policy LU-22 has been added 

addressing growth monitoring. 

 Policy LU-23 is added and 

provides a criteria for future 

Comprehensive Plan land use 

designation requests.  

4. Manage additional growth consistent with 

VISION 2040. The plan should include policies 

and actions that address the impacts of the higher 

planned growth numbers on local and regional 

infrastructure and on the adjacent area. Plans 

should demonstrate an extra effort to achieve 

compact development patterns, reduce impacts 

on regional facilities, and protect adjacent rural 

and resource lands. 

Comment: As noted in your response to our earlier 

comments, Covington has done a number of things to 

manage its expected growth that are exemplary in 

addressing both local and regional goals. Your 

response suggests that the city would consider 

“amending the Draft to better illustrate how the 

City’s approach to development helps manage 

See responses above. 

Also, see City policies addressing 

LOS standards and service 

coordination (policies LU-7, TR-2 

and CF-1), impact fees (LU-7, 

HO-9, TR-32, Exhibit TR-12, CF-

25, CF-29, CF-30 and pages CF-4 

and CF-5 addressing fire, school, 

park impact fees), and high quality 

design (Goal LU-II, Policies LU-

5, LU-6, LU-8, LU-11, LU-26, 

LU-29 to LU-34, LU-37 and LU-

38, LU-40). 

150 of 183



 

 4 

Comment City Response 

growth – e.g. high quality LOS standards, 

transportation impact fees, addition of parks impact 

fees, SEPA conditions, design standards, etc.” The 

city has a good story to tell here and we encourage 

you to emphasize it in the plan. With regard to 

protecting adjacent rural and resource lands, we 

appreciate the proposed edit to Policy LU-19 

ensuring coordination with King County consistent 

with Countywide Planning Policies. As discussed at 

the December 11 meeting, the city may also consider 

removing this policy from the draft plan and we 

encourage you to explore this option. 

5. Coordination with other jurisdictions and 

agencies. Regional coordination is a hallmark of 

VISION 2040 and the countywide planning 

process. The plan should demonstrate a 

heightened degree of coordination with adjacent 

cities and towns, counties, and other agencies, 

such as WSDOT and local and regional transit 

agencies. Such coordination should address 

growth targets, transportation impacts, and 

compatibility of plans and investments where 

local planning departs from agreed-upon targets. 

Comment: As noted, the City of Covington has done a 

number of things to achieve a high level of 

coordination with other jurisdictions and agencies, 

including WSDOT, nearby cities, and King County. 

We recommend that you highlight those efforts in the 

final adopted plan and in supporting documents. 

See responses above. 

Thank you again for working with us through the plan review process.  We want to help the city stay on 

schedule. If the city is unable to respond to all aspects of the framework criteria at this time, it may be 

possible for the plan to be conditionally certified provided that the city expresses a commitment to make 

further amendments in the coming year.We are available to continue to provide assistance and additional 

reviews as the plan moves through the development process. If you have questions or need additional 

information, please contact me at 206-971-3289 or mhubner@psrc.org.      

Sincerely, 

 

Michael Hubner, AICP 

Principal Planner 

Growth Management Planning 

 

cc:  Review Team, Growth Management Services, Department of Commerce  

151 of 183



ORDINANCE NO. 02-2016 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON RELATING 

TO PERIODIC MAJOR UPDATES TO THE COVINGTON 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

WASHINGTON STATE GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT 

(CHAPTER 36.70A RCW); ADOPTING THE NEW 2015-2035  

COVINGTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN IN ITS ENTIRETY; 

REPEALING THE 2001 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND ALL 

AMENDMENTS THEREAFTER; READOPTING THE 

SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM, HAWK PROPERTY 

SUBAREA PLAN, AND PLANNED ACTION BY REFERENCE 

TO THE 2015-2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING 

FOR SAVINGS, SEVERABILITY, RATIFICATION, AND 

CORRECTIONS; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE.  

 

 

 WHEREAS, in compliance with the Washington State Growth Management Act, Chapter 

36.70A RCW, and amendments thereto, (the “GMA”) the City of Covington (the “City”) 

adopted its Comprehensive Plan on September 1, 2001; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to RCW 36.70A.130, an adopted comprehensive plan is subject to 

continuing review and evaluation, but may be amended no more than once per calendar year; and 

 

WHEREAS, in addition to the above annual amendments, RCW 36.70A.130 also 

requires an adopted comprehensive plan to be subject to a major, substantive periodic review, on 

a dictated schedule, to ensure the plan and related development regulations comply with the 

requirements of the GMA (“Periodic Updates”); and 

 

WHEREAS, since adoption of its original Comprehensive Plan, the City has performed 

two required Periodic Updates, resulting in major amendments to the original Comprehensive 

Plan in 2005, 2009, and 2011; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has also considered and adopted, if needed, regular, non-

substantive amendments considered on an annual basis; and 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with RCW 36.70A.130, on or before June 30, 2015, cities in 

King County must perform a Periodic Update and revise, if needed, an adopted comprehensive 

plan and development regulations to ensure the plan and regulations comply with the 

requirements of the GMA, and must then repeat said Periodic Update every eight (8) years 

thereafter; and 

 

ATTACHMENT 7

152 of 183



 WHEREAS, pursuant to the GMA requirements, on June 23, 2014, at a community 

workshop, the City initiated the 2015-2035 Covington Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update, 

which looks forward to guide planning policies for the next twenty years (2015—2035); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has undergone tremendous changes since its Comprehensive Plan 

was originally adopted and since the last major update, accordingly, City staff and consultants 

embarked on a complete review and update of the City’s entire Comprehensive Plan (the 

proposed “2015-2035 Covington Comprehensive Plan” or “2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan”) to 

respond to and be consistent with the requirements of Chapter 36.70A RCW, VISION 2040, and 

the Countywide Planning Policies; and  

 

WHEREAS, in 2012 the City commissioned a Market Demand Study, the outcomes of 

which recognized that under the existing zoning, the City could accommodate all of its share of 

projected population and job growth through 2035; and  

 

WHEREAS, given said population and job growth trends and approved development, the 

City has established new estimates for the amount of growth over the next twenty years (2015-

2035) that must be addressed in the City’s proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan anticipates growth of 

approximately 3,920 additional housing units and approximately 3,706 jobs between 2012 and 

2035; and  

  

WHEREAS, the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan supports a strategy that 

focuses on the City’s growth in the City’s Downtown and the Lakepointe Urban Village Subarea 

(previously known as the Hawk Property Subarea) Areas to accommodate mixed-use 

development that will complement and serve existing neighborhoods and provide for commercial 

uses that serve the community’s needs; and   

 

WHEREAS, the City has reviewed the GMA and has identified that as part of the 

Periodic Update, the 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan should, among other things, accept the new 

growth targets for households and jobs for the period from 2012 through 2035, and those new 

targets should be based on new elements, a Capital Facilities Appendix, an Existing Conditions 

Report, and a Best Available Sciences Report to reflect the additional growth in the 2015-2035 

planning period; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City intends to adopt future amendments to its Critical Areas regulations 

(Chapter 18.65 CMC) to include Best Available Science and better reflect local conditions and 

opportunities in accordance with the GMA; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan identifies the infrastructure 

and capital investments required to support growth and changing community needs and is linked 

to facility plans for transportation, utilities, parks, and other public facilities; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan seeks to preserve and enhance 

the community’s quality of life, including economic opportunities, housing choice, quality of 

153 of 183



neighborhoods, public safety, human and community services, and parks, recreation, and open 

space areas; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City has provided for public participation in the development and review 

of the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan to comply with the GMA, including 

requirements for early and continuous public participation in the development and amendment of 

the City's Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, throughout 2014 and 2015, the City embarked on a community outreach 

campaign to provide numerous opportunities for community involvement in creating a shared 

plan for the City’s future, including community workshops, stakeholder interviews, a “Storefront 

Studio” in a centrally-located retail space for drop-in visits to ask questions of City staff, and 

several open houses and public meetings; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City also encouraged public participation and provided information on 

the 2015 Comprehensive Plan update on its website (http://covingtonwa.gov/update2015); and 

 

WHEREAS, as a result of the City’s efforts, the public has had extensive opportunities to 

participate throughout the 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update process and all 

persons desiring to comment on the proposed updates were given a full and complete opportunity 

to be heard; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s Planning Commission held a public hearing on November 19, 

2015, to take public testimony on the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has recommended that the City Council approve 

the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan on file with the City Clerk; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on January 12, 2016, to consider the 

Planning Commission’s recommendation and to take further public testimony; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and considered the public testimony made at 

the public hearing(s), and other pertinent material regarding the 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed 2015-2035 Comprehensive Plan to 

be adopted is consistent with the GMA, and will protect and promote the health, safety, and 

welfare of the general public; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City has complied with the requirements of the State Environmental 

Policy Act (Chapter 43.21C RCW), including the publication of a Determination of Significance, 

Adoption of Existing Documents and Addendum on November 13, 2015.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

154 of 183



Section 1.  Findings. After reviewing the record and considering the evidence in the 

record and at public meetings, the City Council hereby adopts all of the above recitals and the 

findings, analysis, and conclusions contained in the City Planning Commission Staff Memo 

prepared for the November 19, 2015 public hearing.  

 

Section 2.  Adoption of 2015 Covington Comprehensive Plan. The 2015 Covington 

Comprehensive Plan, as set forth in the attached Exhibit A and fully incorporated herein by this 

reference, is hereby adopted and approved in its entirety as the comprehensive plan for the City 

of Covington, Washington. 

  
Section 3.  Repeal of 2001 Covington Comprehensive Plan and Amendments. The 

2001 Covington Comprehensive Plan, originally adopted by Ordinance No. 24-01, and thereafter 

amended by Ordinance Nos. 02-02, 16-02, 45-02, 46-02, 47-02, 48-02, 49-02, 50-02, 51-02, 55-

02, 56-02, , 70-03, 84-03, 85-03, 86-03, 87-03, 88-03, 89-03, 90-03, 91-03, 92-03, 94-03, 11-05, 

15-05, 23-05, 31-05, 20-08, 23-09, 10-11, 02-14, 11-14, (the "Repealed Comprehensive Plan 

Ordinances") and  Resolution 03-167, are hereby repealed in full.  

 

Section 4. Effect on Adopted Plans. 

 

a. Shoreline Master Program. Upon the effective date of this ordinance, the City of 

Covington Shoreline Master Program, adopted by Ordinance No. 05-11, shall be 

incorporated by reference and readopted within the 2015-2035 Covington 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

b. Hawk Subarea Plans. Upon the effective date of this ordinance, the Hawk Property 

Subarea Plan, adopted by Ordinance No. 01-14, as amended, shall be incorporated by 

reference and readopted within the 2015-2035 Covington Comprehensive Plan and 

referred to as the Lakepointe Urban Village Subarea. 

 

c. Hawk Property Planned Action. Upon the effective date of this ordinance, the 

Hawk Property Planned Action, adopted by Ordinance No. 04-14, as amended, shall 

be incorporated by reference and readopted within the Covington Comprehensive 

Plan.  

 

Section 5. Savings Clause. The Repealed Comprehensive Plan Ordinances and 

Resolution 03-167 shall remain in full force and effect until the 2015-2035 Covington 

Comprehensive Plan adopted in Section 2 herein becomes operative upon the effective date of 

this ordinance; AND at any time should the 2015-2035 Covington Comprehensive Plan be found 

unlawful or invalidated in its entirety, the Repealed Comprehensive Plan Ordinances and 

Resolution 03-167 shall spring back into full force and effect.   

 

Section 6.  Severability. The provisions of this ordinance are declared separate and 

severable.  The invalidity of any clause, sentence, paragraph, subdivision, section, or portion of 

this ordinance, or the invalidity of the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall 

not affect the validity of the remainder of the ordinance or the validity of its application to other 

persons or circumstances.  

155 of 183



 

Section 7.  Ratification. Any act consistent with the authority and prior to the effective 

date of this ordinance is hereby ratified and affirmed.  

 

Section 8.  Corrections by City Clerk.  Upon approval of the City Attorney, the City 

Clerk and the codifiers of this ordinance are authorized to make necessary technical corrections 

to this ordinance, including, without limitation, the correction of clerical errors; references to 

other local, state, or federal laws, codes, rules, or regulations; or section/subsection numbering. 

 

Section 9.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days 

after its passage and legal publication.  A summary of this ordinance, consisting of the ordinance 

title, may be published in lieu of publishing the ordinance in its entirety. 

 

 Passed by the City Council of the City of Covington, Washington at its regular 

meeting on the 12th of January 2016, and signed in authentication of its passage. 

 

CITY OF COVINGTON 

 

____________________________                      

Mayor 

     

PUBLISHED:  January 15, 2016 

EFFECTIVE:   January 20, 2016 

ATTESTED: 

 

                                          

Sharon Scott 

City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

_________________________ 

Sara Springer 

City Attorney 

156 of 183



Agenda Item 3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 

 Date:  January 12, 2016 

 

SUBJECT:   CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL OF 2016 PLANNING COMMISSION WORK 

PROGRAM    

 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 

                                          

ATTACHMENTS:    

1. Priority Ranking of 2016 Planning Commission and Community Development 

Department Proposed Work Program and Staff Time Allocations 

 

PREPARED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 

                              

EXPLANATION: 

The Council held a study session tonight to discuss the Planning Commission recommended 

2016 work program.  This item is for the council to formally adopt the 2016 Planning 

Commission and Community Development Department work program.  

 

The City Council may reorder the priorities or add new tasks to the work plan tonight based upon 

discussion with the Planning Commission at the study session.  In addition the council may 

adjust the priorities or add new tasks throughout the year.  However, with a finite number of 

work hours available, certain projects would have to be lowered in priority or additional staff 

resources would need to be made available.  

 

Attachment 1 is the Commission’s ranking of work plan priorities for 2016.  The Commission 

ranked the priorities based on input from the staff, comments from the public (Master Builders 

Association), State legislative mandates, council requests and budget funding, and a desire to 

encourage economic development.  As shown on Attachment 1, there are several high priority 

items that are carried over from 2015, that are a result of unforeseen changes in legislation, initial 

scopes being larger than anticipated, or staff hours not being available due to shifting priorities 

and/or resources.    

 

The Commission’s proposed work priorities for 2016 involve statutorily required elements such 

as the annual Comprehensive Plan Amendment docket; completion of the Growth Management 

Act (GMA) Comprehensive Plan Update and Implementation measures; adoption of a state 

mandated impact fee deferral program; adoption of state required new building codes; revision of 

our critical area ordinance, FEMA regulations, and Shoreline regulations; development of 

consolidated impact fee code revisions and SEPA process changes; and adoption of permanent 

marijuana regulations.   Two additional high priority tasks are completion of the new sign code 

revisions based upon the recent Supreme Court decision and completion of the Hawk Subarea 

Plan Annexation, Development Agreement, and zoning changes.  These statutorily required and 

additional high priority tasks require the majority of the work hours in 2016, occupying 2200 of 

the 2900 available staff hours, leaving few additional hours for other work tasks.   

 

157 of 183



Staff resource hours in 2016 will be slightly higher than in 2015 as we added some additional 

hours from the Senior Planner, Building Official, Associate Planner, and the Senior Permit 

Center Coordinator.   However, it’s obvious that some tasks will have to be delayed until 2017.   

 

Monitoring work hours for each task will be very critical this year to track progress toward 

accomplishments.  Staff always does a check-in with the Commission mid-year to evaluate 

completion of scheduled tasks matching available resources.   

 

ALTERNATIVES:   

1.  Request additional information or input from staff or the Commission. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

No fiscal impact is expected beyond dollars already allocated within the 2016 Community 

Development Department budget.     

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    _____Ordinance            Resolution  ___X___Motion           Other 

 

Council member ______________ moves, Council member _______________ 

seconds, to approve the 2016 Planning Commission Work Program as 

indicated in Attachment 1, in substantial form as attached hereto.  
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, Finance Director 

          

 

158 of 183



 Final Community Development Department & Planning Commission  

Work Program Items for 2016. 

Work Program Item - 2016 
Requirement 

Type 

Staff 

Hours 

 

1. 
GMA Required 7-Year Comprehensive Plan Update -Adoption & 

Implementation [Completion of tasks from 2015] 

State Legislature 
100 

 

2. 
Hawk Property Development Agreement, Annexation, and Clean-Up of 

Zoning Code References   

Council/Private 

Developer 
300* 

 

3.  
Comprehensive Plan & Development Code Regulation Amendment Annual 

Docket for 2016 (Anticipating Pros Plan/Parks Updates) Annual Work Task 

State Legislature  
300 

 

4.  
Impact Fee Deferral Program State Legislature 400 

 

5.  
Adoption of New Building Codes State Legislature   50 

 

6.  
Critical Area Ordinance Revisions (CMC 18.65) FEMA & Shoreline [Carry-

over from 2015] 

State Legislature 
250* 

 

7.  
Develop Consolidated Impact Fee Zoning Code Revisions from 

Comprehensive Plan Policies and SEPA Process Changes in Title 18 

State Legislature 
350 

 

8.  
Medical Marijuana, Collective Gardens & Dispensary Moratorium 

Extension/Code Changes for Permanent Marijuana Zoning Regulations  

State Legislature 
100 

 

9.  
Sign Code Changes for Civic, Government and Non-Profit Signs CMC 18.55 

[Carry-over from 2015]  

Council/ 

Supreme Court 
350 

 

10.  
City Electronic Plan Review System Council 200* 

 

11.  
Critical Area/Wetland Monitoring System  Council/Staff 250* 

 

12.  
Study Reducing Residential Side Yard Setbacks from 7.5 ft. to 5.0 ft. with 

Planning Commission (CMC 18.30) [Carry-over from 2015]  

Private/Master 

Builders 
250 

 

13.  
Park Impact Fee Code Changes [Carry-over from 2015] Council 300 

 

14.  
Fire Impact Fee Changes Working with Kent Regional Fire Authority [Carry-

over from 2015]   

Interjurisdictional

/ Kent RFA 
200 

 

15.  
Consider Zoning Code Amendments for Wind Turbines in Residential Zones Council Member 100 

TOTAL ESTIMATED WORK HOURS FOR 2016 PROPOSED PROGRAMS                3500 

TOTAL ESTIMATED WORK HOUR AVAILABLE FOR 2016  2900 

Work Program Notes 
Available Staff Hours  

Available hours in 2016 for work program items with proposed staffing levels are approximately 2900 hours. 

These 2900 hours reflect the total hours each community development staff position can devote to Long Range 

Planning/Special Projects as follows: 40% Director, 75% Senior Planner, 20% Principal Planner, 25% Associate 

Planner, 10% Building Official, and 5% Permit Center Coordinator.  The remaining percentage of staff time is 

devoted to development services which is responsible for permitting, plan review, counter assistance, public 

inquires, code implementation and other administrative duties (copy, scan, forms, webpage etc.) directly related to 

general customer service and development review.  In addition, the Director has other department administrative 

functions and responsibilities. 

ATTACHMENT 1

159 of 183



Although some of the proposed tasks are policy and development related programming, such as the impact fee 

deferral program and adoption of new building codes, the task is considered a long range action, and ultimately the 

hours to complete the task are deducted from development services fund activities.  Further, most of the 

community development department staff are salaried employees, with the exception of the senior and associate 

planner, so there is limited, if any, opportunity for paid overtime. 

 

Attorney Review Hours 

Not included within the 3500 hours of proposed work tasks are city attorney review hours. Our proposed work plan 

has to be accounted for in the attorney’s work program hours.  The availability of attorney review hours may affect 

the timeline for any public hearing, ordinance adoption and implementation, and in some cases change the overall 

priority due to other conflicting or higher priority citywide work tasks of the city attorney.     

 

Benchmark for Comparison 

The 2015 Planning Commission Work Program consisted of 12 work items with 3100 hours, and staff was only 

able to complete 6 items. The 2014 Planning Commission Work Program contained 9 work items with 2700 hours 

and only 7 were completed.  The 50% completion rate in 2015 was due to various delays such as priority shifts, 

attorney availability, delays with consultants and reprogramming, larger project scope than anticipated, and limited 

staff availability due to an increase in development services permit activity.   

 

Work Plan Summary 

There are six carry-over items from 2015 into 2016.  They include completion of the critical area ordinance 

revisions; continuation of the temporary sign code amendments; completion of the Parks Impact Fee Ordinance 

and code amendments; institution of a new Fire Impact Fee Ordinance; the Master Builders request to study 

reducing side yard setback requirements in residential zones; and developing code amendments for wind turbines 

in residential zones.    

 

The Hawk Property development agreement and annexation application process (2nd item on the list) is an 

ongoing work task that is developer driven and, at the earliest, may be completed in the summer of 2016. This task 

requires substantial attorney time, which is captured by the developer; however, since it’s developer driven, it is 

hard to quantify the timing of the work.  

 

Work tasks with an asterisk (*) indicate tasks that have been allotted funds in the 2016 budget to help with 

consultant time.  These four tasks include: Impact Fee Deferral Program, City Electronic Plan Review System, 

Critical Area/Wetland Monitoring System, and Comprehensive Plan Implementation.  The council allocated 

limited funds to these programs which will free up some staff hours.  The hours reflected in the program tasks are 

reduced accordingly to account for consultant time; however, these funds are limited, and staff will still be required 

to manage the tasks (administration, review, and planning commission & city council actions). It seems logical that 

these four tasks should be on the final list of tasks to be accomplished. 

 

Prioritization 

The Planning Commission and City Council must carefully prioritize these proposed tasks to stay within the 2900 

hours available for work, choose to delay some work tasks until 2017, or create additional resources to address the 

work program tasks. Additional resources may include allocating additional funds for consultants, requiring 

privately-initiated code changes to follow the code amendment process, which includes payment of fees by the 

private entity to capture the city’s costs for processing. If a private entity formally applies for a code amendment 

process and pays the required fees, it is guaranteed to be a work plan item.    

 

Based on the availability of 2900 staff hours, approximately 11 or 12 of the 15 work tasks could be accomplished 

in 2016.  Three or four would have to be delayed until 2017.  We anticipate that staff time and Planning 

Commission responsibilities will fluctuate throughout the completion of these work items with efficiencies in some 

areas and additional work tasks in other areas based upon public input, and final scope of work for each task.  Staff 

will provide a mid-year update on work program progress and percentage completion to the Planning Commission 

and City Council. 

160 of 183



Agenda Item 4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 

 Date: January 12, 2016  

 

SUBJECT:  PARKS, RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE PLAN – DRAFT REVIEW 

 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Rachel Bahl, Interim Parks and Recreation Director 

                                         Angie Feser, Parks Planner 

                                          

ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. 2016 Parks, Recreation & Open Space Plan (binder provided separately) 

 

PREPARED BY:  Angie Feser, Parks Planner 

 

EXPLANATION: 

The periodic update to the Parks, Recreation and Open Space (PROS) Plan began early in 2015 

with a heavy emphasis of public outreach opportunities including open houses, mail and online 

surveys, an interactive website, direct emailing to more than 5,000 program participants, 

Covington Days display and stakeholder meetings.  

 

Due to growth in the city’s parks system and recreation programming, the plan has expanded 

from the 2010 version and now includes four main components – parks, recreation programs and 

facilities, trails and linkages and green infrastructure. With the city’s comprehensive plan update 

occurring concurrently, there is special emphasis in coordinating work with Community 

Development to align the comp plan parks element and PROS plan update as well.  

 

The draft plan update was presented to and reviewed by the Parks and Recreation Commission 

on September 16th and again December 16th.  The Planning Commission reviewed it early 

October as well. Input from these reviews and revisions from city staff were combined with 

Council’s feedback from the November presentation and were incorporated to develop this final 

draft. This final draft is currently available to the public and other City departments for review 

and comment and is scheduled for adoption by the Council next month.       

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. None.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT:   

There is no fiscal impact related to the review of the Final Draft version of the PROS Plan. 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance        Resolution          Motion    X     Other 

 

PROVIDE INPUT TO STAFF 

 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager; City Attorney, Finance Director, Parks & Recreation Director 

161 of 183



Agenda Item 5 
 Covington City Council Meeting 

 Date: January 12, 2016  

 

SUBJECT:  CONSIDER PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO COVINGTON’S MUNICIPAL 

CODE (CMC) TITLE 18 RELATING TO SETBACKS ON ACCESSORY 

STRUCTURES, INCLUDING SHEDS, GAZEBOS, PLAY EQUIPMENT, 

UTILITY CABINETS, DECKS, AND SIMILAR STRUCTURES. 

 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Planning Commission 

                                          

ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Proposed Ordinance adopting amendments to Title 18 relating to setbacks requirements for 

accessory structures, including sheds, gazebos, decks, and other HVAC utility structures 

2. Exhibit A:  Proposed Zoning Code Amendments for Sheds and Other Accessory Structures 

3. Comparisons of Setbacks for Accessory Structures with Other Jurisdictions 

 

PREPARED BY:  Richard Hart, Director of Community Development 

  Brian Bykonen, Associate Planner & Code Enforcement Officer 

 

EXPLANATION: 

 

Background 

At the request of the City Council, as part of the 2015 Planning Commission Work Program, the 

city’s staff and planning commission reviewed current CMC regulations governing setbacks for 

accessory structures, including sheds, gazebos, decks, and other heating, ventilating, and air 

conditioning (HVAC) utility structures, such as ground mounted heating and air conditioning 

units and pumps. (See Attachment 1 Exhibit A)  

 

The city’s current accessory structure regulations are outdated, unclear, and somewhat restrictive 

for sheds on smaller lots.  This has presented problems when people want to clean up side and 

rear yards and store material and items in outdoor storage sheds.  In addition, when storage sheds 

are constructed in existing setbacks it generates many code enforcement complaints.  The 

problem could be solved with a slight reduction of the setbacks for accessory structures and 

clarification of different setbacks for decks than for taller accessory structures.  Many of our 

regulations are left over from King County regulations adopted when the city incorporated in 

1997 and have not been comprehensively evaluated and updated in that ensuing 18 years. 

 

This issue can affect the livability and quality of neighborhoods, depending upon the lot size and 

density of the neighborhood; therefore, it has been a high priority for both council and city staff.  

Adjusting our code in these areas will improve our code enforcement administration and 

hopefully reduce complaints caused by random construction of accessory structures in setbacks.   

 

Staff also prepared a table with comparisons of accessory structure setbacks from other 

jurisdictions for use in making a decision.  (See Attachment 3)     

 

162 of 183



Proposed Code Amendment Summary Highlights for Accessory Structure Setbacks 

Highlighted below is a summary of the major areas that we have proposed to amend. (See 

Attachment 2)      

 

Highlights of the recommended code amendments are included below: 

 

1. CMC 18.30.200 (2) (a) Allowing sheds, gazebos and play equipment less than 200 sq. ft. 

to be located in side yard setbacks with only a three (3) foot setback. 

2. CMC 18.30.200 (2) (b) Limiting the height of sheds and other accessory structures in side 

yard setbacks to twelve (12) feet. 

3. CMC 18.30.200 (2) (g) Prohibiting structures or confinement areas for keeping of 

domestic animals, fowl, livestock and bees within interior setbacks. 

4. CMC 18.30.200 (4) (a) Prohibiting uncovered decks eighteen (18) inches in height or less 

above finished grade to be located less than three (3) feet from any interior property line. 

5. CMC 18.30.200 (10) Prohibiting HVAC, heat pumps, generators, and other equipment 

cabinets less than five (5) feet from any interior property lines. 

6. CMC 18.30.200 (27) Applying R-8 density and dimension standards for primary and 

accessory structures to all commercial zones where many did not exist and for clarity.     

Review Process 

A SEPA Determination of Non-Significance (DNS) for the proposed code amendments was 

issued on August 28, 2015, and no comments or appeals were received on the amendments from 

other state or local agencies, or the public.  The State Department of Commerce was also notified 

for their 60-day state required review of local ordinance changes on July 15, 2015.  

   

The Planning Commission discussed the proposed changes at public meetings on July 16 and 

August 6, 2015.  The Commission held their required public hearing on September 17, 2015, and 

no one testified or offered comments on the changes to the setbacks for accessory structures.        

 

At tonight’s city council meeting, council members will review, discuss, and consider the 

Planning Commission’s recommendation and proposed new code provisions.  The council may 

approve and adopt the amendments to the city setback regulations for accessory structures in 

Attachment 2, modify the Commission recommendation, or refer the regulations back to the 

Commission and staff for further study.   

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Recommend amendments to the proposed ordinance.  

2. Return the issue to city staff and the Planning Commission for further study and analysis. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:   

None, outside of the minimal staff time to administer and enforce the regulations after adoption.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

163 of 183



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    X     Ordinance       Resolution         Motion         Other 

 

Council member ______________ moves, Council member _______________ 

seconds, to pass an Ordinance, in substantial form as attached hereto, to 

amend portions of Title 18 of the Covington Municipal Code relating to 

setbacks for accessory structures in all residential and commercial zones. 

 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager; Finance Director; City Attorney. 

164 of 183



ORDINANCE NO. 03-2016 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON AMENDING 

THOSE PORTIONS OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON 

ACCESSORY STRUCTURE  REGULATIONS IN CMC TITLE 

18 RELATING TO SETBACKS FOR SHEDS, GAZEBOS, PLAY 

EQUIPMENT, DECKS, GENERATORS, EQUIPMENT 

CABINETS, AND OTHER SIMILAR STRUCTURES; 

PROVIDING FOR CORRECTIONS AND SEVERABILITY; 

AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

 WHEREAS, Chapter 35A.63 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW) empowers the 

City of Covington to enact land use and zoning regulations including setbacks for primary and 

accessory structures; and  

 

WHEREAS, city staff transmitted the proposed amendments to the Covington zoning 

regulations governing setbacks for accessory structures to the Washington State Department of 

Commerce on July 15, 2015, as required under RCW 36.70A.106, and has received no 

comments from state agencies; and 

 

WHEREAS, the city’s SEPA Official conducted a SEPA review and issued a 

Determination of Non-Significance on August 28, 2015; and  

 

WHEREAS, amendments to Covington’s Zoning Regulations for setbacks for accessory 

structures were discussed by Planning Commission at their July 16, 2015 and August 6, 2015 

meeting; and   

 

WHEREAS, on September 17, 2015 the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public 

hearing and considered the amendments to the Zoning Regulations for setbacks for accessory 

structures and forwarded a recommendation to approve to the City Council; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments are consistent with the goals, objectives, and 

policies of the comprehensive plan;  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments make Covington’s regulations of accessory 

structures more consistent with surrounding jurisdictions; 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments serve to clean up inconsistencies and outdated 

provisions from the originally adopted King County zoning code adopted upon incorporation of 

the city; 

  

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments provide a somewhat less restrictive approach to 

use of critical accessory structures on residential lots; and   

 

ATTACHMENT 1

165 of 183



WHEREAS, the City Council, upon review of the facts, findings and recommendations 

of the Planning Commission and after reviewing information provided by city staff, find that all 

applicable and substantive requirements of the law have been met, that the adoption of this 

ordinance promotes the public health, safety and general welfare of the community, and that the 

adoption of this ordinance serves the public interest.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, KING 

COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1.  The proposed standards in the Covington Zoning Regulations for Setbacks for 

Accessory Structures in Chapters 18.30.030, 18.30.200, and 18.31.030 are hereby amended as set 

forth in the attached Exhibit A, incorporated fully herein by this reference. 

  
 Section 2.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect five days after publication in 

the city’s newspaper of record.  A summary of this ordinance may be published in lieu of 

publishing the ordinance in its entirety. 

 

 Section 3.  If any provision of this ordinance, or ordinance modified by it, is determined 

to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions of this ordinance and 

ordinances and/or resolutions modified by it shall remain in force and effect. 

 

Section 4. Upon approval of the City Attorney, the City Clerk is authorized to make 

necessary corrections to this ordinance, including the correction of clerical errors; references to 

other local, state, or federal laws, codes, rules, or regulations; or section/subsection numbering. 

 

Passed by the City Council on the 12th day of January, 2016, and signed in authentication 

thereof. 

 

_______________________                      

Mayor 

     

PUBLISHED:  January 15, 2016 

EFFECTIVE:   January 20, 2016 

ATTESTED: 

 

                                          

Sharon Scott, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_________________________ 

Sara Springer, City Attorney 

166 of 183



PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO COVINGTON MUNICIPAL CODE (CMC) 
SETBACK MODIFICATIONS FOR RESIDENTIAL ACCESSORY 

STRUCTURES AND DIMENSIONS FOR SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED 
AND DETACHED DWELLINGS IN DOWNTOWN ZONES   

CMC Chapters 18.30.030, 18.30.200, and 18.31.030 

  

Chapter 18.30 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS-DENSITY AND DIMENSIONS 

18.30.030 Densities and dimensions – Residential zones. 

A. Table. 

STANDARDS 

ZONES 

RESIDENTIAL 

R-1 (14) 
Urban Separator R-4 R-6 R-8 R-12 R-18 MR 

Base density: dwelling 

units/acre (15) 

1 du/ac 4 du/ac 6 du/ac 8 du/ac 12 du/ac 18 du/ac 

(18) 

14 du/ac 

Maximum density: dwelling 

unit/acre (1) 

  6 du/ac 9 du/ac 12 du/ac 18 du/ac 24 du/ac 50 du/ac 

Minimum density (2) (15)   85% (12) 85% (12) 85% (12) 85% 

(12) 

85% 

(12) 

85% 

(12) 

Minimum lot area (13) 2,500 sf 2,500 sf 2,500 sf 2,500 sf 2,500 sf 

(3) 

2,500 sf 

(3) 

2,500 sf 

(3) 

Minimum lot width (3) 35 ft (7) 30 ft 30 ft 30 ft 30 ft 30 ft 30 ft 

Minimum street setback (3) 20 ft (7) 10 ft (8) 10 ft (8) 10 ft (8) 10 ft (8) 10 ft 10 ft 

Minimum interior setback (3) 

(13) (20) 

7 ft 6 inches (7) 7 ft 6 inches 7 ft 6 

inches 

7 ft 6 

inches 

5 ft (19) 10 ft 5 ft (19) 

Base height (4) 35 ft 35 ft 35 ft 

45 ft (11) 

35 ft 

45 ft (11) 

35 ft 

45 ft 

(11) 

35 ft 60 ft 

Maximum impervious surface: 

percentage (5) 

30% (16) 55% 70% 75% 75% (3) 75% 80% (3) 

B. Development Conditions. 

ATTACHMENT 2 
EXHIBIT A

167 of 183



 

2 
 

(1) This maximum density may be achieved only through the application of residential density incentives in 

accordance with Chapter 18.90 CMC or transfers of density credits in accordance with Chapter 18.95 CMC, or 

any combination of density incentive or density transfer. Maximum density may only be exceeded in 

accordance with CMC 18.90.040(6)(a)(vii). Within the Hawk Property subarea, this condition shall not apply. 

(2) Also see CMC 18.30.060. 

(3) These standards may be modified under the provisions for zero-lot-line and townhouse developments. 

(4) Height limits may be increased if portions of the structure that exceed the base height limit provide one 

additional foot of street and interior setback for each foot above the base height limit, but the maximum height 

may not exceed 75 feet. Wireless communication facilities, including licensed amateur (HAM) radio stations 

and citizen band stations, shall not exceed the zone’s base height limit unless allowed pursuant to the 

provisions of Chapter 18.70 CMC or a height modification is granted pursuant to CMC 18.70.150. Netting or 

fencing and support structures for the netting or fencing used to contain golf balls in the operation of golf 

courses or golf driving ranges are exempt from the additional interior setback requirements but the maximum 

height shall not exceed 75 feet. 

(5) Applies to each individual lot. Impervious surface area standards for: 

(a) Regional uses shall be established at the time of permit review; 

(b) Nonresidential uses in residential zones, except those located within the MR zone, shall comply with 

CMC 18.30.140 and 18.30.250; 

(c) Individual lots in the R-4 through R-6 zones that are less than 9,076 square feet in area shall be 

subject to the applicable provisions of the nearest comparable R-6 or R-8 zone; and 

(d) A lot may be increased beyond the total amount permitted in this chapter subject to approval of a 

conditional use permit. 

(6) Mobile home parks shall be allowed a base density of six dwelling units per acre. 

(7) The standards of the R-4 zone shall apply if a lot is less than 15,000 square feet in area. 

(8) At least 20 linear feet of driveway shall be provided between any garage, carport or other fenced parking 

area and the street property line or back of sidewalk if any portion of the sidewalk has been included in an 

168 of 183



 

3 
 

easement. The linear distance shall be measured along the center line of the driveway from the access point to 

such garage, carport or fenced area to the street property line. 

(9) Intentionally left blank. 

(10) Intentionally left blank. 

(11) The base height to be used only for projects as follows: 

(a) In R-6, R-8 and R-12 zones, a building with a footprint built on slopes exceeding a 15 percent 

finished grade. 

(12) Density applies only to dwelling units and not to sleeping units. 

(13) Vehicle access points from garages, carports or fenced parking areas shall be set back from the property 

line on which a joint use driveway is located to provide a straight line length of at least 26 feet as measured 

from the center line of the garage, carport or fenced parking area, from the access point to the opposite side of 

the joint use driveway. 

(14) (a) All subdivisions and short subdivisions in the R-1 zone shall be required to be clustered if the property 

is located within or contains: 

(i) A floodplain; 

(ii) A critical aquifer recharge area; 

(iii) A regionally or locally significant resource area; 

(iv) Existing or planned public parks or trails, or connections to such facilities; 

(v) A Class I or II stream or wetland; 

(vi) A steep slope; or 

(vii) A greenbelt/urban separator or wildlife corridor area designated by the comprehensive 

plan or a community plan. 

(b) The development shall be clustered away from sensitive areas or the axis of designated corridors 

such as urban separators or the wildlife habitat network to the extent possible and the open space shall 

be placed in a separate tract that includes at least 50 percent of the site. Open space tracts shall be 

169 of 183



 

4 
 

permanent and shall be dedicated to a homeowners’ association or other suitable organization, as 

determined by the Director, and meet the requirements in CMC 18.35.040. On-site sensitive area and 

buffers, wildlife habitat networks, required habitat and buffers for protected species and designated 

urban separators shall be placed within the open space tract to the extent possible. Passive recreation 

(with no development of recreational facilities) and natural-surface pedestrian and equestrian trails are 

acceptable uses within the open space tract. 

(15) See CMC 18.30.090. 

(16) All subdivisions and short subdivisions in the R-1 zone shall have a maximum impervious surface area of 

eight percent of the gross acreage of the plat. Distribution of the allowable impervious area among the platted 

lots shall be recorded on the face of the plat. Impervious surface of roads need not be counted towards the 

allowable impervious area. Where both lot- and plat-specific impervious limits apply, the more restrictive shall 

be required. 

(17) Intentionally left blank. 

(18) Except cottage housing, which may have a base density of 12 du/acre. 

(19) Minimum interior setback for underground parking structures is zero feet.  

(20) See CMC 18.30.200 for projections and structures allowed within interior setbacks.  

… 
 

18.30.200 Setbacks – Projections and structures allowed. 

Provided that the required setbacks from regional utility corridors of CMC 18.30.170, the adjoining half-street or 

designated arterial setbacks of CMC 18.30.190 and the sight distance requirements of CMC 18.30.240 are 

maintained, structures may extend into or be located in required setbacks, including setbacks as required by 

CMC 18.30.250(2), as follows: 

(1) Fireplace structures, bay or garden windows, enclosed stair landings, closets, or similar structures may 

project into any setback, provided such projections are: 

(a) Limited to two per facade; 

(b) Not wider than 10 feet; and 

170 of 183



 

5 
 

(c)  Not more than 24 inches into an interior setback or 30 inches into a street setback; 

(2) Detached residential accessory structures, including tool and storage sheds, gazebos, trellises, play 

equipment and similar structures, with a floor area not exceeding 200 square feet each may be located in 

required interior setback areas pursuant to the following conditions: 

           (a) No portion of any accessory structure shall be closer than three (3) feet from any interior 

property line; and 

           (b) No portion of any accessory structure located within an interior setback shall exceed twelve 

(12) feet in height; and 

           (c) No portion of any accessory structure located within an interior setback shall be located within 

six (6) feet of any other accessory structure or primary structure; and 

           (d) No storage of material or debris, overgrown vegetation, or any other obstruction that restricts 

passage is allowed in the area between the accessory structure and property line; and 

           (e) An accessory structure requiring a city building permit shall not be located within an interior 

setback; and 

           (f) Accessory structures shall not be located within interior setback areas that contain utility 

easements and/or critical area setbacks; and 

           (g) Structures and confinement areas used for the keeping of domestic animals, fowl, livestock, 

and bees are not permitted within interior setbacks, unless specifically allowed by Chapter 18.80 CMC;   

Uncovered porches and decks which exceed 18 inches above the finished grade may project: 

(a) Eighteen inches into interior setbacks, and 

(b) Five feet into the street setback; 

(3) Building siding materials and trim boards; provided, that the siding materials and trim boards do not extend 

further that six inches into said setback; 

(4) Uncovered porches and decks are allowed within interior setbacks pursuant to the following conditions:  not 

exceeding 18 inches above the finished grade may project to the property line; 

         (a) No portion of an uncovered porch or deck that is 18 inches or less in height above the finished grade 

shall be closer than three (3) feet from any interior property line; and 

171 of 183



 

6 
 

         (b) No portion of an uncovered porch or deck which exceeds 18 inches in height above the finished grade 

shall encroach more than 18 inches into an interior setback;  

(5) Eaves may not project more than: 

(a) Eighteen inches into an interior setback; 

(b) Twenty-four inches into a street setback; or 

(c) Eighteen inches across a lot line in a zero-lot-line development; 

(6) Fences with a height of six feet or less may project into or be located in any setback; 

(7) Rockeries, retaining walls and curbs may project into or be located in any setback, provided these 

structures are in accord with the International Building Code and International Residential Code, and: 

(a) Do not exceed a height of six feet in R-1 through R-18; and 

(b) Do not exceed the building height for the zone in commercial/industrial zones, measured in 

accordance with the codified standards;  

(8) Fences located on top of rockeries, retaining walls or berms are subject to the requirements of CMC 

18.35.210; 

(9) Telephone, power, light and flag poles may project to property lines; 

(10)  The following may project into or be located within a setback and shall maintain a minimum five (5) foot 

setback from any interior property line: but may only project into or be located within a five-foot interior setback 

area if an agreement documenting consent between the owners of record of the abutting properties is recorded 

with the King County Department of Records and Elections prior to the installment or construction of the 

structure:  

(a) Sprinkler systems, air conditioners, heat pumps, generators, electrical and cellular equipment 

cabinets and other similar utility boxes and vaults; 

(b) Security system access controls; 

(c) Structures, except for buildings, associated with trails and on-site recreation spaces and play areas 

required in CMC 18.35.150 and 18.35.170 such as benches, picnic tables and drinking fountains; and 

172 of 183



 

7 
 

(d) Surface water management facilities as required by Chapter 13.25 CMC; 

(11) Mailboxes and newspaper boxes may project into or be located within street setbacks; 

(12) Fire hydrants and associated appendages;  

(13) Metro bus shelters may be located within street setbacks; 

(14) Unless otherwise allowed in Chapter 18.55 CMC, freestanding and monument signs four feet or less in 

height, with a maximum sign area of 20 square feet, may project into or be located within street setbacks; and 

(15) Stormwater conveyance and control facilities, both above and below ground, provided such projections 

are: 

(a) Consistent with setback, easement and access requirements specified in the stormwater manuals 

adopted in Chapter 13.25 CMC; or 

(b) In the absence of said specifications, not within five feet of the property line. (Ord. 10-10 § 3 (Exh. C); 

Ord. 13-09 § 27; Ord. 06-05 § 1; Ord. 23-04 § 11; Ord. 60-03 § 1; Ord. 57-03 § 1; Ord. 42-02 § 2 

(21A.12.170)) 

… 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

173 of 183



 

8 
 

Chapter 18.31 
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN STANDARDS 

18.31.0080 Permitted uses. 

(3) Permitted Use Table. 

Use Categories 

Town 
Center 
(TC)23 

Mixed 
Commercial 

(MC) 

General 
Commercial 

(GC) 

Mixed 
Housing 

Office 
(MHO)1 

Residential 

Dwelling Unit, Accessory NP NP NP P2 

Dwelling Unit, Multifamily P26 P P P 

Dwelling Unit, Single-Family Attached, Detached or 

Cottage Housing21, 27 

NP NP NP P2 

Senior Citizen Assisted Housing P P P C 

Commercial 

Adult Entertainment  NP P3 P3 NP 

Business Services19 P5 P P P4,5 

Drive Through Use NP P P NP 

Farmers’ Markets and Public Markets6 P P P NP 

Gambling and Card Rooms NP NP NP NP 

Home Occupation and Live/Work P P P P 

Outdoor Commercial NP NP P NP 

Personal and Beauty Services20,21 P P P P 

Private Electric Vehicle Parking Facility (Primary Use)     P5,24   

Private Parking Facility (Primary Use) NP NP NP NP 

Professional Office P P P P 

Retail Trade and Services – 100,000 sq. ft. or less for all 

structures  

P5 P P10 P4,5 

Retail Trade and Services – greater than 100,000 sq. ft. 

for all structures  

C5,9,18 P P10 NP 

Shooting Ranges25 NP NP P NP 

174 of 183



 

9 
 

Storage/Self Storage NP P5 P NP 

Temporary Lodging/Hotel P P P C22 

Cultural/Recreation 

Cinema, Performing Arts and Museums  P P P NP 

Meeting Hall/Other Group Assembly P P P C 

Recreation, Indoor or Outdoor C P P P 

Religious C7 P P C 

Health Services 

Emergency Care Facility  C9,18 P NP NP 

Hospital  NP P NP NP 

Medical Office/Outpatient Clinic P8 P NP P 

Nursing/Personal Care Facility NP P NP C 

Industrial/Manufacturing  

Asphalt Plants NP NP NP NP 

Light Industrial/Manufacturing NP NP P10 NP 

Government/Institutional11 

Essential Public Facilities NP NP C NP 

Government Services P  P  P  P12 

Major Utility Facility C14 C P C 

Minor Utility Facility P15 P P P 

Schools: Compulsory, Vocational and Higher Education  C13 P NP C 

Wireless Communication Facilities16 

Antenna, Collocation on an Existing Structure17 P P P P 

Wireless Communication Facility Tower NP NP NP NP 

(4) Permitted Use Conditions.  

1. a. Unless the use can be accommodated within an existing structure, development and/or redevelopment in 

the Covington Firs and Covington Township subdivisions shall be a minimum of two acres;  

b. Be contiguous to a non-single-family use of two acres or more to be eligible to redevelop to a new 

use; and  

175 of 183



 

10 
 

c. Successive development cannot isolate existing single-family residential lots less than two acres (as a 

group) between developments.  

2. a. No new subdivision of land is permitted for single-family homes except for townhouses and cottage 

developments. The exception is a binding site plan for commercial uses.  

b. New single-family homes are allowed on existing single-family lots.  

c. An accessory dwelling unit is allowed as an accessory to a single-family detached unit subject to the 

development standards in CMC 18.25.030(7).  

3. Adult entertainment uses are prohibited within certain locations pursuant to the development standards 

provided in Chapter 5.20 CMC and CMC 18.25.040(2).  

4. This use is restricted to a maximum of 5,000 gross square feet within the MHO district. 

5. Services and operations other than customer parking shall be fully contained within a structure. 

6. Temporary farmers’ and public markets shall be permitted in accordance with CMC 18.85.125. 

7. The development shall not occupy more than one acre for the total of the site development, including any 

planned phases and/or expansions.  

8. a. Buildings greater than four stories shall provide 80 percent of required parking within a structure. 

Structured parking shall not front onto 171st Ave. SE. 

b. Medical office uses greater than two stories shall have a minimum of 60 percent ground floor retail 

trade and services and 40 percent business and professional services when fronting onto 171st Ave. SE, 

unless otherwise allowed through the development agreement process in Chapter 18.114 CMC and 

further specified in CMC 18.31.045. 

9. The development shall be located west of the proposed 171st Ave. SE road alignment with frontage onto 

168th Pl. SE or the planned SE 276th St. alignment.  

10. All structures shall meet the required setbacks, landscaping and all other standards contained in this 

chapter. Equipment storage, manufacturing activities, and wrecked, dismantled and/or inoperative vehicles 

shall be enclosed in a structure or fully screened from public right-of-way, including SE 272nd St. and 

Covington Way with Type I landscaping in accordance with CMC 18.40.040. 

176 of 183



 

11 
 

11. Maintenance yards, substations and solid waste transfer stations are not permitted in the TC, MC, or MHO 

downtown zoning districts.  

12. Transit stations and park and ride facilities, not including bus stops, shall be reviewed by a conditional use 

permit pursuant to CMC 18.125.040. 

13. All schools for compulsory, vocational and higher education shall be located on the upper floors of a mixed-

use building that includes ground floor commercial uses, unless otherwise allowed through the development 

agreement process in Chapter 18.114 CMC and further specified in CMC 18.31.045. 

14. All facilities shall not occupy more than one acre of a site and the facility shall be screened with Type I 

landscaping in accordance with CMC 18.40.040. 

15. Minor utility facilities, such as telecom, fiber optics, Internet and similar facilities, shall be located within a 

fully enclosed structure, unless otherwise determined by the Director. 

16. Chapter 18.70 CMC, Wireless Communication Facilities, outlines the approval and review process. In the 

event of a conflict between the requirements of Chapter 18.70 CMC and the requirements of this chapter, 

Chapter 18.70 CMC shall govern. 

17. All antennas and ancillary wireless communication facilities shall be concealed facilities and mounted on an 

existing building or structure or placed underground as provided for in Chapter 18.70 CMC. 

18. a. Emergency care facilities shall not occupy more than four acres for the total of the site development 

including any planned phases and/or expansions of the emergency care use; 

b. Shall not exceed 50,000 square feet of total building square footage; and 

c. Shall not exceed more than two stories or 35 feet whichever is greater.  

19. Gasoline service stations and battery exchange stations are limited to the general commercial and mixed 

commercial districts and subject to the following conditions: 

a. A gasoline service station shall be limited to eight pumps and 16 price gauges to service no more than 

16 vehicles. 

b. A battery exchange station shall provide a minimum of three stacking spaces.  

177 of 183



 

12 
 

c. Stacking spaces and drive-through facilities shall be designed in accordance with CMC 18.50.080. 

d. Any associated materials, equipment storage, outdoor storage tanks and battery exchange activities 

shall be within a fully enclosed structure, unless otherwise determined by the Director.  

20. a. No burning of refuse or dead animals is allowed; 

b. The portion of the building or structure in which animals are kept or treated shall be soundproofed. All 

run areas, excluding confinement areas for livestock, shall be surrounded by an eight-foot-high solid wall 

and surfaced with concrete or other impervious material;  

c. Subject to animal keeping provisions of Chapter 18.80 CMC;  

d. Prior to issuance of a development permit, documentation shall be provided by a qualified acoustical 

consultant, for approval by the Community Development Director, verifying that the expected noise to be 

emanating from the site complies with the standards set forth in WAC 173-60-040(1) for a Class B 

source property and a Class A receiving property;  

e. Outside runs and other outside facilities for animals are not permitted;  

f. Not permitted in any subdivision containing dwelling units; and 

g. May only treat small animals on premises. 

21. Day care I is allowed only as an accessory to a single-family detached unit.  

22. Except bed and breakfasts, guesthouses are permitted outright and do not require a conditional use permit.  

23. Mixed-use structures greater than one story shall provide ground floor retail, restaurant, or personal 

services along 60 percent of the building facade, unless otherwise allowed through the development agreement 

process in Chapter 18.114 CMC and further specified in CMC 18.31.045. Permitted uses under the headings of 

cultural/recreation and governmental/institutional in subsection (3) of this section are exempt from this 

provision. 

24. Parking facilities shall be fully screened from the public right-of-way with Type 1 landscaping in accordance 

with CMC 18.40.040. 

178 of 183



 

13 
 

25. a. The indoor shooting range, including its plans, rules, procedures, management and staff, shall comply 

with the applicable safety guidelines and provisions in the latest edition of “the Range Source Book” (National 

Rifle Association of America: Fairfax, Virginia) or its successor, as appropriate to the type of facility involved.  

b. Any new development proposal and/or business license application for an indoor shooting range shall 

be accompanied by a notarized letter by the shooting facility operator that the facility complies with 

Federal and State regulations, meets commonly accepted shooting facility safety and design practices, 

and will be operated in a manner that protects the safety of the general public. 

c. Outdoor shooting ranges are not permitted. 

26. a. Multifamily residential dwellings in the TC zone shall be located in a minimum three-story mixed-use 

structure; and 

b. Sixty percent or more of the ground floor abutting a street, public space, public plaza and/or public 

green space shall be occupied by one or more of the following permitted uses: retail, restaurant or 

personal services, unless otherwise allowed through the development agreement process in Chapter 

18.114 CMC and further specified in CMC 18.31.045. Driveways, service and truck loading areas, 

parking garage entrances and lobbies shall not be included in calculating the required percentages of 

ground floor use. (Ord. 06-13 § 2 (Exh. A); Ord. 14-12 § 2 (Exh. B); Ord. 09-12 § 2 (Exh. B); Ord. 04-12 

§ 1 (Exh. A); Ord. 01-12 § 1 (Exh. 1); Ord. 19-11 § 1 (Exh. 1); Ord. 10-10 § 1 (Exh. A)) 

27. New and existing single-family attached and detached dwellings within commercial zones shall abide by the 

density and dimension standards for the R-8 zone provided in Chapter 18.30.030 CMC.  

 

 

 

179 of 183



Accessory Structure Comparison with Neighboring Communities  

1 
 

 
Proposed Covington Kent Maple Valley Black Diamond Des Moines 

Setback 
Encroachment 

Allowances 

Detached structures 
3 feet from side and 
rear property lines, 

6 feet from the 
dwelling or other 
structures. 200 sq 

foot maximum. 12 ft 
maximum height. 

Uncovered porches 
and decks under 18 
inches in height 3 
feet from side and 
rear property lines. 
Uncovered porches 
and decks in excess 

of 18 inches in 
height can encroach 

18 inches into a 
setback.  

An accessory building can 
be located anywhere on 
a lot if it conforms with 

the setbacks required by 
this title for a principal 

building. In the rear one-
half (1/2) of a lot the 

accessory building can be 
built to within two (2) 

feet of the side and rear 
lot lines, except when 
attached to a principal 

building, in which case it 
must have the same 
setbacks as the main 
building. Garages or 

carports are limited to 
one thousand (1,000) 

square feet in area where 
motor vehicles used by 

the tenants of the 
buildings on the premises 

are stored or kept. 

Residential accessory 
structures, trellises, sheds, 
play equipment and similar 
structures totaling less than 

200 square feet per site 
may be located in the 

required rear or side yard 
setback areas when: i. 

Located in the rear yard; or 
the rear or side yard of 

pipestem or alley load lots; 
and ii. No portion of the 

building or structure may 
be located closer than 40 

inches to the property line, 
except that roof eaves may 

be located no closer than 36 
inches; and iii. The total 

amount of all such 
structures on site is limited 
to 25 percent or less of the 
length of the property line 

within the rear yard area or 
applicable side yard area, 
for which the structure is 

abutting; and, iv. The height 
of buildings, sheds and 

similar structures is limited 
to eight and one-half feet, 

the height of play structures 
containing no enclosed 

areas is limited to 10.5 feet. 

Structure separation: 
On lots containing more 

than one structure, 
there shall be a distance 

of not less than ten 
feet, between all 

buildings, including 
accessory buildings. No 

specific setback 
encroachment for 

accessory structures 
identified.  

Buildings and structures 
on any lot in a SF Res 

Zone shall conform to the 
following: (1) Interior 
Lots. (b) The distance 
between a building 

containing a dwelling unit 
or accessory living 

quarters and any other 
buildings on the same lot 
shall be not less than 10 

feet; (c) On the rear third 
of a lot accessory 

buildings not containing 
accessory living quarters 
may be built on the lot 

side lines and the lot rear 
line; provided, not less 
than 10 feet of the lot 

rear line shall be free and 
clear of buildings; and 

provided further, if the lot 
rears upon an alley, a 

garage with a vehicular 
entrance from the alley 

shall maintain a distance 
of not less than 15 feet 

from the centerline of the 
alley. 

 

ATTACHMENT 3

180 of 183



  

Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date:  January 12, 2016 

 

 

DISCUSSION OF  

FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 
 

 
7:00 p.m. Tuesday, January 26, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 (Draft Agenda Attached) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

181 of 183



 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 

Tuesday, January 26, 2016                                                                                                  City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

 Announcement of Volunteer of the Year and Commissioner of the Year (Council) 
 

RECEPTION 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 

the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  January 12, 2016 Special Meeting-Joint Study Session with Planning Commission and 

January 12, 2016 Regular Meeting (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
C-3. Approve 2016 King County Youth Sports Facilities Grant (Feser) 
C-4. Tetra Tech Amendment (Vondran) 
C-5. Approve Interlocal Agreement with City of Kent for CIP 1127 (Vondran) 
C-6. Approve Resolution Authorizing Safety Equipment from CAI Safety Systems (Beaufrere) 
C-7. Accept Department of Ecology Grant for Stormwater Capacity (Vondran) 
C-8. Approve Indigent Defense Services Agreement (Bolli) 
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 

 Human Services Chair Fran McGregor:  January 14 meeting; December 10 meeting canceled. 

 Parks & Recreation Chair Laura Morrissey:  December 16 and January 20 meetings. 

 Planning Chair Bill Judd:  December 17 and January 21 meetings; Dec. 3 and Jan. 7 canceled. 

 Arts Chair Lesli Cohan:  December 10 and January 14 meetings. 

 PRePAC Chair Jennifer Harjehausen:  December 9 special meeting. 

 Economic Development Council Co-Chair Jeff Wagner:  December 3 special meeting.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 

Draft 
as of 1/8/2016 

 

182 of 183

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – if needed 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 
 

 

183 of 183


	01-12-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 01-12-2016 Green Sheet Minutes Approval
	Consent C-1 Attachment 1 11.10.2015 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Consent C-1 Attachment 2 11.24.2015 Special Joint Study Session w-PC
	Consent C-1 Attachment 3 11.24.2015 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Consent C-1 Attachment 4 12.08.2015 Special Meetng for Executive Session Minutes
	Consent C-1 Attachment 5 12.08.2015 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Consent C-2 Green Sheet 01-12-2016 Voucher Green Sheet
	Consent C-2 Attachments
	Consent C-3 Green Sheet 1-12-16 Audit Committee Blue Sheet Appointment by Motion
	Consent C-4 Green Sheet 01-12-16 Project Acceptance of CDBG Jenkins Creek Park Project
	Consent C-4 ATT 1 JCP Final Contract Voucher Certificate
	Consent C-4 ATT 2 JCP Notice of Completion of Public Works Contract Form
	Consent C-5 Green Sheet 01-12-16 CIP 1029 City Wide Safety Improvements Blue Sheet - Contract Award
	Consent C-5 ATT 1 - Bid Summary-Rebid
	Consent C-5 ATT 2 - Local Agency Agreement Supplement #2
	Consent C-5 ATT 3 - Covington-Independent Consultant-CM Cost Estimate
	Consent C-5 ATT 4 - City_Wide-CM Task Order with G&O
	Consent C-6 Green Sheet 01-12-16 TIB Grant Acceptance
	Consent C-6 ATT 1 TIB
	Consent C-6 ATT 2 TIB
	Consent C-6 ATT 3 TIB
	Consent C-7 Green Sheet 01-12-16 Blue Sheet Appointments to Regional Forums
	Consent C-7 Attachment 1 Board Representatives 2016
	Item 1 Blue Sheet 01122015 Annexation Ord Blue Sheet
	Item 1 Attachment 1_ Ordinance_No_01_2016_Hawk_Property_Annexation
	Item 1 Attachment 1 Exhibit A Hawk Zoning Legal Description
	item 1 Attachment 1 Exhibit B  Parcel Map of Annexation Area 11162015
	Item 2 Blue_Sheet_Public Hearing and ORD_Comp Plan Periodic Update_12Jan2016_SBSEDIT
	Item 2 Attachment_1_11_19_15_Planning_Commission PH staff report
	Item 2 Planning Commisison Public Hearing 11132015
	Item 2 Attachment 1_DS_Updated_ Addendum_2015_CompPlanUpdate Issued 11132015

	Item 2 Attachment_2_Addendum_Corrections_2016_0105
	Item 2 Attachment_3_Planning_Commission_Meeting Minutes 11_19_15
	Planning Commission Minutes 111915

	Item 2 Attachment_4_Staff response to public Comments on Comp Plan Update at Nov  19 2015 Public Hearing
	Item 2 Attachment_6a_Commerce ltr 21799_CP Amendment 12-15
	Item 2 Attachment_6b_PSRC Comments on Draft Covington Comprehensive Plan 2015 with city response
	Item 2 Attachment_6c_PSRC Comments on Draft Covington Comprehensive Plan Growth Assumptions 2015 with City Response
	Item 2 Attachment_6d_PSRC Comments on Draft Covington Comprehensive Plan Follow up with City Responses
	Item 2 Attachment_7_ORD-Comprehensive Plan Update_12Jan2016_SBSEDIT_v2
	Item 3 Blue Sheet for Council Approval of Planning Commission 2016 Work Program
	Item 3 Attachment 1 FINAL PC 2016 Work Program Tasks with priority recommendation 01-12-16
	Item 4 Blue Sheet - PROS Plan Draft Presentation
	Item 5 Blue Sheet Amending Accessory Structure Regulations for Sheds 01-12-16
	Item 5 Attachment 1 Ordinance adopting revised setbacks for accessory structures including sheds 01-12-16
	Item 5 Attachment 2-Exhibit A Code Amendments on Setbacks for Sheds & Accessory Structures 01-12-16
	Item 5 Attachment 3 Comparison of Setbacks in Other Jurisdictions 01-12-16
	Future Agenda Cover Sheet
	01-26-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Item 2 Attachment_5_ Written Comments received from Grazyna Pruouty on Nov 18th  and Nicholas Skok on Nov 13 and Dec 11 2015.pdf
	Blank Page




